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The cost of policy failure in preventing conflict is not just dollars, but lives and untold human misery. Yet the past year has
demonstrated once again how hard it is to prevent and predict conflict. International efforts have very often failed either to
forestall armed conflicts or to significantly diminish their destructive effects, and no major breakthrough in the field of conflict
prevention has emerged.

But a positive development is the growing effort of organisations and governments to mainstream conflict prevention in all their 
policy sectors, and major progress has been made in the resolution of some terrible and longstanding internal wars, for example in the
Congo and Sudan. Even more emphasis should be given to strengthening the capacity of civil societies to prevent and resolve conflict.
And the advocacy effort to encourage governments and international organisations to embrace good policy must be unrelenting.

What distinguishes ICG from other organisations active on peace and security issues is essentially our combination of 
field-based analysis, sharp-edged policy prescription, and high-level advocacy, with key roles being played – very unusually for a
non-governmental organisation – by a senior management team highly experienced in government and by a highly active Board
containing many senior statesmen and women who have more than a few ideas about how to make things happen.

It may not be an overstatement to say that ICG, following three years of rapid expansion and another big surge in our advocacy
activity in 2002, is now recognised as the world’s leading independent, non-government source of analysis and advice to
governments and international organisations in relation to the prevention and resolution of deadly conflict.

From the President

The wider Middle East remains the region where ICG’s concerns are most
concentrated. While the question of Iraq has been at the forefront of
international concern, there is still no progress in the region’s most potent
source of grievance and danger: the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. Moving
towards a settlement there is a major focus of ICG’s Middle East program.
In July 2002 ICG simultaneously released three major reports under the
title Middle East Endgame that present a detailed political plan and draft
negotiating texts for a comprehensive Arab-Israeli settlement. The reports
assess many options, but conclude that the most productive path to peace
would be a new U.S.-led comprehensive settlement initiative supported by
the key Arab states – Jordan, Egypt and Saudi Arabia – as well as the EU,
UN and Russia. This recommendation remains no less valid today than on
the day it was published.

The oppressive rule of the Taliban, which provided a safe-haven for
terrorists in Afghanistan, has been brought to an end and the long process
of rebuilding the country is underway. Progress is hampered, though, by
continuing security concerns. Former warlords still command substantial
militias and control large parts of the country. The precarious security
situation frustrates progress, with many dangerously split rival factions and
the central government’s authority largely confined to Kabul. ICG is also
actively engaged in Central Asia, helping to build up knowledge of the five
Central Asian states and developing policy ideas for regional governments
and the international community. The focus here is on the links between
poor governance, poverty, corruption and the risk of conflict.

12 October 2002 was a sad day for Bali and the world when bombs
rocked that peaceful island. But it is vital that the threat is kept in
perspective. Few Indonesian Muslims are radicals, and even fewer
advocate violence. ICG’s reporting on Islamist groups in 2002 provided
crucial information about the situation in Indonesia, seeking to avoid
exaggerated reaction in the attempts to maintain security. This is important,
since the true strength of democratic societies lies in liberty, the rule of law,
human rights and democracy. These principles must not be compromised
in the fight against terrorism. ICG consistently documents the conditions
that encourage terrorism, including poverty and marginalisation.

I devote my time to the International Crisis Group because I believe it 
is doing very valuable work in alerting the international community to
potential crises and proposing policies to prevent or resolve conflict.
2002 was a year of consolidation for ICG after several years of major
expansion of both projects and personnel. The year also brought increased
high-level recognition of ICG’s work. The address to the ICG Board in 
New York in October by the Secretary-General of the United Nations,
Kofi Annan, and the Board’s briefing of the UN Security Council two days
later were highlights of the year. I would like to thank ICG’s President
Gareth Evans for his vision and leadership, and the organisation’s excellent
staff. ICG could not succeed in its mission if it did not have the firm
support of the donor community. My profound gratitude goes to them also.

With a full time staff now of over 90, and expenditure in 2002 of 
$U.S. 8.8 million, ICG was by the end of 2002 reporting from the ground on
some 35 crisis or conflict-affected countries or entities across Asia, Africa,
the Middle East, Europe and Latin America, as well as maintaining highly
active advocacy offices in Brussels, Washington, New York, Paris and London
with another about to open in Moscow. In 2002, ICG published 82 detailed
reports and briefing papers, each of which went to over 10,000 senior
government decision-makers and those who influence them, while another
770,000 reports were downloaded from our website (www.crisisweb.org).

It is not easy to precisely measure the impact of all this output.
Conflict resolution activity is reasonably visible and measurable, and the
role that ICG has been playing in, for example, the Congo, Sudan and
Burundi peace processes, all of which have made progress in the last
year, has been widely acknowledged. But in the case of conflict
prevention, which in many ways remains ICG’s primary focus, assessing
the impact made by us or anyone else is notoriously difficult: by definition,
when preventive activity succeeds, nothing happens, most people don’t
notice, and those who do may question the causal link involved.

Often we can claim no more than that ICG has contributed to the better
understanding of dangerous situations, and has contributed ideas and
proposals that have been taken seriously, even if not immediately embraced.
But the continuing and growing financial support we are receiving, with a
major increase in foundation funding in 2002 and an anticipated leap in
government commitments in 2003, is evidence in itself that ICG is seen as 
a key player in the international policy debate, making a contribution that
matters to help the world become a saner and more civilised place.

The most important and satisfying acknowledgement of our role in the last
year came from Kofi Annan, describing ICG publicly as ‘a global voice of
conscience and a genuine force for peace’. But the most noticed was almost
certainly our identification as one of the world’s top ten humanitarian NGOs
in a December 2002 Vanity Fair ‘Hall of Fame’ photo-spread, sandwiched
between portraits of the cast of ‘Friends’ and Nicole Kidman!

The year 2002 was not so much one of further significant expansion as 
of consolidation – in particular bedding down and generating maximum
performance from our major new Middle East program and a number 
of new terrorism-related projects commenced the previous year, and
generally lifting the visibility and intensity of our advocacy. In 2003, ICG
will expand its reach a little further: with new projects in Europe and Asia.
But again the main focus will be on consolidation, ensuring the maximum
effectiveness of our existing field projects (especially in Africa, where the
need remains greatest) and of our advocacy in capitals.

ICG has achieved the necessary critical mass for the organisation to be a
serious player in the worldwide policy debate. The task for the future is not
to expand further – and become in the process necessarily more
bureaucratic and less fast-moving than we are able to be now – but rather
to maintain our capacity to operate more or less at our present resource
level. That said, maintaining even a steady-state budget will be no mean
feat in an economic environment which remains highly uncertain.

All of us at ICG are deeply grateful to our donors – old and new, public
and private – for their great generosity, and even greater commitment to
the cause of peace. We hope very much that we can retain their support
and, with the help of others as well, build a solid foundation for ICG’s
continuing contribution to that cause.
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HON GARETH EVANS AO QC
President and Chief Executive

Brussels, 10 March 2003

Gareth Evans served as Australian Foreign Minister from 1988 to 1996.
He has been President of ICG since 10 January 2000.

PRESIDENT MARTTI AHTISAARI
Chairman
Helsinki, 10 March 2003

Martti Ahtisaari served as President of Finland from 1994 to 2000. He was, among other roles, United Nations
Commissioner for Namibia from 1977 to 1981, and the European Union’s representative in the 1999 Kosovo
Peace talks. He has been Chairman of ICG since March 2000.

From the Chair



ICG’sMission

ICG was established in 1995 by a group of prominent international citizens and foreign policy specialists who were appalled by
the international community’s failure to act effectively in response to the crises in Somalia, Bosnia and Rwanda. Their aim was 
to create a new organisation, wholly independent of any government, which would help governments, international organisations
and the world community at large prevent or at least contain deadly conflict, and – if and when prevention failed – try to resolve it.

Our primary goal is prevention – to persuade those capable of altering the course of events to act in ways that reduce tensions
and meet grievances, rather than letting them fester and explode into violent conflict.

What determines ICG’s involvement in a particular issue is whether deadly conflict is apprehended or occurring, whether we are
likely to be able to add value in achieving its prevention or resolution, and whether we have, or can raise, the resources needed 
to do the job properly, both in the field and through our advocacy in capitals.

How does ICG go about implementing its mission? What did the organisation do in 2002 to advance it?

ICG’s approach has three basic elements:

Expert field research and analysis: ICG’s credibility is founded on its
field-based research. Teams of ICG analysts are permanently based in
many of the world’s trouble spots – where there is concern about the
possible outbreak of conflict, its escalation, or its recurrence.

Their main task is to find out what is happening and why. They identify the
underlying political, social and economic factors creating the conditions for
conflict as well as the more immediate causes of tension. They find the
people that matter, and discover what or who influences them. They study the
factors outside the country that may be contributing to the conflict. And they
consider the actual and potential role for other countries and international
organisations to help defuse the crisis. That knowledge then has to be
converted into succinct, timely and readable reports and briefing papers.

Practical, imaginative, policy prescriptions: ICG’s role is not merely 
to understand conflict but to prevent, contain and resolve it. That means
identifying the levers that can be pulled and those who can pull them.
There are many different tools in the conflict prevention and resolution
toolbox: diplomatic and political; legal; financial; and economic; and
ultimately, military.

Some of these tools are applicable in-country, requiring action by the
national government or local actors; others require the commitment of
other governments or international organisations to be effective. Some need
to be applied in the short-term; for others the lead time is longer. Some will
be within the current market place of received ideas; others will be over the
horizon, too far away for many to be able or willing to reach but nonetheless
the right way forward. But in every case the need is the same: to identify
policy responses that are within the capacity of policy makers to apply and
that, if applied, will help to prevent or resolve deadly conflict.

Effective, high-level advocacy: Identifying the problem and the
appropriate response is still only part of the story. Often the risk or 
reality of conflict will be known and the policies that need to be applied 
to address the situation will also be reasonably well understood.
The missing ingredient will be the ‘political will’ to take the necessary action.

ICG’s task is not to lament the absence of political will, but to work out
how to mobilise it. That means persuading policy makers directly or
through others who influence them, not least the media. That in turn
means having the right arguments – moral, political, legal or financial.
And it means having the ability to effectively deploy those arguments,
rationally or emotionally as the case may require, with people of the 
right credibility and capacity.

Operating in the Field

The first step is for ICG’s Board, on the recommendation of the President,
to decide to commence a new project. There are four basic criteria involved
in commencing (and continuing in operation) a field project: the degree of
conflict apprehended or occurring; whether ICG is likely to be able to add
value to international understanding and response; whether we have or can
raise the necessary resources to employ new field staff; and whether we
have, or can acquire, the necessary managerial resources to ensure the
quality of new reporting and the effectiveness of follow-through advocacy.

In 2002 a new project was established for the Taiwan Strait; our West
Africa project in Sierra Leone was expanded to include Liberia, Guinea and
Ivory Coast; our work in the Horn of Africa was extended to Somalia; and
our Afghanistan/South Asia project was expanded to include the problem
of Kashmir. Some winding back of our Balkans program commenced,
reflecting the growing stabilisation of the region after the traumas of the
last decade.

ICG’s field analysts are former diplomats, journalists, academics and NGO
staff who are often leading experts in their fields. Based full-time on the
ground in crisis areas, they develop important relationships with government
and opposition sources, public servants, military and paramilitary leaders,
municipal officials, academics, journalists and leaders of civil society.

In drafting reports and briefing papers, these analysts work with ICG’s
regional program directors on the direction of research, editing and initial
policy formulation. A small research team in Brussels also provides input,
especially on EU and NATO developments, while ICG Washington and 
New York assist with U.S. and UN perspectives.

Determining Policy

The policy prescriptions attached to nearly all ICG reports are settled by
the President with input from field and senior staff, program directors,
Board members, and consultation with governments, intergovernmental
organisations, academic specialists, think-tanks and other NGOs.
The object is always to produce recommendations that are relevant,
dispassionate, candid, sharply focused and capable of practical
implementation, even if beyond current limits of political acceptability.

Addressing the underlying causes of conflict is a key theme of ICG’s policy
agenda. We have urged the international community, in its initial focus on
destroying terrorist networks and those harbouring them, not to ignore
ethnic tension, corruption, poor governance and poverty, all of which help
to breed extremism.

Advocating Action

Effective advocacy means disseminating the product as widely and
effectively as possible, making sure that policy makers hear the message
and then persuading them to take action.

During 2002 ICG disseminated its reports and briefing papers in three ways:

• by direct mail of printed reports and papers to over 3,200 senior policy
makers and those, in the media and elsewhere, who influence them;

• by email notification or attachment of reports and papers to 9,500
targeted ‘influentials’, and over another 9,500 recipients subscribing
through the ICG website; and

• through our website www.crisisweb.org, which in 2002 received
810,000 visits (averaging 11 minutes duration each), and from which
770,000 copies of ICG reports and briefing papers were downloaded
during the course of the year.

To ensure policy makers hear our message, ICG tries as often as possible
to participate in conferences, seminars and workshops sponsored by other
organisations, to hold occasional workshops and seminars of its own,
and to have face to face briefings with ministers, officials, legislators and
UN/EU/World Bank/NATO and other international organisation personnel.
In 2002, ICG itself conducted 15 full-scale policy seminars and 32 policy
roundtables, as well as making 11 presentations before parliamentary
committees and having over 2,000 other face-to-face advocacy meetings.
These discussions are held locally and in major capitals by the President,
vice presidents, program directors and analysts. Board members
themselves – an extraordinary talent pool – are also increasingly involved
in advocacy of this direct kind.

Adding to our longer established presence in Brussels and Washington DC,
our advocacy office in New York, opened in 2001, has dramatically improved
ICG access and effectiveness in UN circles, as has our Paris office, also opened
in 2001, with European governments. The media liaison office opened in
London in 2002 has improved our international exposure, and the opening
of a new liaison office in Moscow in 2003 will complete the expansion of 
our advocacy presence. All ICG offices, both advocacy and field, receive a
regular flow of senior political and official visitors.

Media exposure is important for ICG’s effectiveness and has more than
doubled each year since 2000. In-house media monitoring of major
international print and electronic media saw mentions of ICG reports,
comments by staff and interviews rise to 1,831 in 2002, (up from 734 in
2001 and 353 in 2000). ICG staff and board members together published
60 comment and opinion pieces in 2002, while many more mentions of
ICG occur in local language media, as a result of briefings and commentary
from our field staff.
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ICG’sMethod

‘Together in a remarkably short time, you have made ICG a global voice of conscience, and a
genuine force for peace. Your mediation work – and your leadership in early warning and 
conflict prevention – have been enormously important. So has your intellectual contribution to
finding new approaches to long-standing conflicts. Your well researched and carefully argued
reports have greatly helped us in understanding the origins and complexities of the conflicts in
which we become involved, often at short notice.’
Kofi Annan, United Nations Secretary General, 5 October 2002
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ICG New York
Established 2001: advocacy with the UN Secretariat,
diplomatic corps and media, liaison with the
philanthropic community, and policy input.

ICG Brussels (Headquarters)
Established 1997: the hub,
coordinating all ICG field operations,
issues research, report production
and distribution, and European and
international advocacy.

ICG Washington
Established 1997: advocacy with the
Administration, Capitol Hill, and U.S. media,
and policy input to Brussels and the field.

Colombia/Andes
Established 2001: focuses on developing a policy
agenda to end the internal conflict in Colombia and to
contain its impact on neighbouring countries.

West Africa
Sierra Leone project established 1995:
project expanded to include Liberia and
Guinea in 2001 and Cote D’Ivoire in 2003.

Horn of Africa
Established 2001 in Sudan to address two-decade war:
expanded to cover Somalia, as failed state and potential
harbour for terrorism, in 2002.

Central Africa
Established 1998: research and
policy advocacy in the Democratic
Republic of Congo, Rwanda, Burundi
and Uganda.

Southern Africa
Established 2001 in Zimbabwe:
expanded to cover Southern Africa,
including Angola, in 2003.

Central Asia
Established 2000: addresses security issues in Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, Turkmenistan,
Tajikistan and Kazakhstan with particular emphasis on post 911 environment.

Myanmar
Established 2000: addresses policy
options for peaceful political change.

Indonesia
Established 2000: focuses on separatist and

communal violence, sources of terrorism, political
transition and police and military reform.

Balkans
Established 1996: currently focused on Kosovo,
Serbia, Macedonia, and Bosnia, with watching
briefs over Montenegro, Albania and Croatia.

Arab-Israeli Conflict
Established 2001: addresses the
situation in Israel, the Occupied
Territories, Syria and Lebanon, focusing
on new and more comprehensive
strategies to achieve sustainable peace.

Afghanistan/South Asia
Established 2001: addresses peacebuilding
in Afghanistan, security issues in Pakistan
and Nepal, and the Kashmir conflict.

ICG London
Established 2002: media liaison and
advocacy base for visiting ICG staff.

Taiwan Strait
Established 2002: addresses ways to
improve cross-strait confidence and links,
and avert deterioration in the potentially
explosive China/Taiwan relationship.

Egypt/North Africa
Established 1998 in Algeria: monitors developments in Egypt
and across North Africa, with focus on the sources of Islamist
extremism and strategies for peaceful political transition. Iraq/Iran/Gulf

Established 2002: focuses on the Iraq
crisis, the prospects for peaceful political
transition in Iran and the Gulf states, and
the sources of terrorism.

ICG Paris
Established 2001: coordinates fundraising with governments

and major foundations, and bilateral advocacy in Europe.

Caucasus
Established 2003: focus in
first instance on security
issues in Georgia.

ICG Moscow
Established 2003: liaison with Russian policymakers,
and advocacy base for visiting ICG staff.

Moldova
Established 2003: will address the
Transdniestria conflict and governance crisis.

‘The International Crisis Group…deploys a network of analysts in
hot spots around the world to monitor volatile political situations,
formulating original, independent recommendations to build global
pressure for their peaceful resolution.’
Richard N. Haass, Director of Policy Planning, 
U.S. State Department, 20 November 2002

‘I think ICG is a great and extraordinary organisation.’
Bono, Lead Singer U2, 19 January 2003
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During 2002 the reporting and advocacy efforts of ICG’s Africa team have had a significant influence on the structure and
substance of peace negotiations in the Democratic Republic of Congo, Burundi, Sudan, and Somalia.

Central Africa
Central Africa’s long running wars in the Congo (DRC) and Burundi
continue despite major diplomatic initiatives. There remain real risks that
the African states that have fought over the Congo wish to maintain the 
de facto division of the country and continue to plunder its resources,
and that fighting may increasingly shift eastwards to Burundi and Rwanda.

ICG’s Central Africa team has concentrated on the major diplomatic efforts
to end the conflicts in 2002: the peace process in the Congo; security
negotiations on disarmament of armed groups in the DRC and withdrawal
of Rwandan troops; and the Burundi cease-fire talks in Tanzania and South
Africa. It has also conducted its yearly evaluation of the International
Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda.

ICG has high level access, contacts and influence in all the Central African
countries in which it operates. Members of the UN Security Council have
actively sought ICG briefings on the region.

Democratic Republic of Congo

In May 2002, ICG published a detailed analysis of the seven-week 
Inter-Congolese Dialogue, Storm Clouds Over Sun City: The Urgent 
Need to Recast the Congolese Peace Process. What was needed, ICG
argued, was an inclusive political strategy that also sought a security
agreement between the Democratic Republic of Congo and Rwanda.
Progress occurred with the Pretoria agreement in July. A further
agreement was reached in December on power sharing between 
the Congolese parties.

ICG recommendations adopted in the context of these agreements were:

• initiation of direct negotiations between Rwanda and the DRC;

• pressure by France, the UK and the U.S. on DRC President Kabila to
withdraw all support for Hutu rebel groups and pressure on Rwanda 
to withdraw its troops from DRC territory;

• personal intervention of the UN Secretary-General and appointment 
of a UN Special Envoy to support implementation of the DRC/Lusaka
Peace Accords;

• increase in funds for the Inter Congolese Dialogue; and

• elements of World Bank and MONUC planning for disarmament and
resettlement of fighters.

Burundi

The hopes raised for Burundi’s three-year transitional government, which
was inaugurated in November 2001, were only partially met in 2002.
Burundi After Six Months of Transition: Continuing the War or Winning the
Peace? (24 May), showed that the Arusha Agreement of August 2000 was
not being implemented and that this jeopardised the intended transfer of
power from President Pierre Buyoya to a Hutu president halfway through
the transition period. The signing of a cease fire between the main rebel
group and the government in December 2002 has changed this dynamic,
but questions remain about the parties’ real commitment to peace.

• Following this publication, ICG briefed the UNSC delegation on its trip 
to Central Africa and was consulted by donors and the IMF about the
possible resumption of aid to Burundi.

The Burundi Rebellion and the Cease-Fire Negotiations (6 August), was
released immediately before the opening of cease-fire talks. This briefing
provided exclusive information and a context for understanding the rebel
factions, whose history, objectives and internal politics are little known
outside Burundi. The briefing emphasised the need for confidence-building
with the rebel groups.

• Shortly after publication, the talks were transferred to Dar es Salaam,
taking into account some of the rebels’ demands and creating a more
favourable environment for discussions.

Rwanda

The International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda: the Countdown (1 August),
concluded that despite some improvements, the Arusha Tribunal would be
unable to fulfil its mandate by 2008, when it is scheduled to wind up.

To illustrate the dysfunction of the Prosecutors’ office, ICG examined the
indictment and arrest of former Rwandan armed forces officer Etienne
Rusatira, regarded as a hero who saved many lives while some of his
superiors were planning and implementing the genocide.

• On 9 August 2002, all ICTR charges against Etienne Rusatira were
dropped and he was released.

Rwanda at the End of the Transition: A Necessary Political Liberalisation
(13 November) showed that there are numerous restrictions on political
and civil liberty. ICG does not argue that all restraint should be removed
from party, media and civil society activities in Rwanda. The external
security situation and the fragility of the internal reconciliation process
make continuing caution appropriate. But the regulation of political parties
should be seen to be above partisan manipulation, with standards imposed,
not by the ruling RPF, but by a wholly independent authority. ICG has
recommended the establishment of an independent Ombudsman’s office.

• The report was not received favourably by the Rwandan government but
donors have since insisted on the liberalisation of political activities as a
condition for election funding.

Horn of Africa
Somalia

A centre of instability in the Horn of Africa for more than a generation,
Somalia has been of increasing interest as a failed state and potential
harbour for terrorism since 11 September 2001.

Somalia: Combating Terrorism in a Failed State (23 May) underlined the
risks posed by a country without effective governmental institutions,
policing mechanisms, economic opportunities or border controls. The report
called for increased involvement by the U.S. and others in the regional IGAD
(Inter-Governmental Authority on Development) peace process.

• ICG’s recommendations have influenced all the diplomatic actors,
especially in planning for the Somali peace process that began late 
in the year in Eldoret, Kenya.

• ICG meetings with different groups in Somalia ahead of the peace
conference helped them to focus on the fundamental issues and
sobered IGAD countries to the complexities of the peace process.

A briefing paper, Salvaging Somalia’s Chance for Peace (9 December)
focused on the mechanics of the Eldoret process.

• Partially in response to this report, the negotiating team was replaced
and the peace process revitalised.

Sudan

Groundbreaking peace talks began in 2002 in Kenya between the
Khartoum government and the southern-based opposition SPLA.
Facilitated by the regional organisation IGAD, these talks represent 
the best chance yet for ending two decades of civil war.

ICG has been influential in shaping the peace process. More than 75 per
cent of the recommendations in the book-length report that launched this
project in January (God, Oil and Country: Changing the Logic of War in
Sudan) and in subsequent reports, have been implemented in whole or 
in part. Specifically:

• ICG pressed the case for moving forward quickly and testing the
Sudanese parties’ commitment through a serious peace process.

• ICG argued successfully that only a partnership between the region 
and the broader international community would be a viable formula for
mediating the Sudan conflict. ICG helped construct, on a step by step
basis, the architecture of the current negotiations.

• ICG has continually pressed the idea that a self-determination
referendum for the South be at the heart of any agreement,
including with the U.S. Congress and the U.S. Special Envoy, former
Senator John Danforth. The 20 July Machakos Protocol – agreed
between the parties – adopts that position.

Capturing the Moment: Sudan’s Peace Process in the Balance (3 April)
highlighted that the window of opportunity for peace was closing and 
called for increased international involvement. Dialogue or Destruction?
Organising for Peace as the War in Sudan Escalates (27 June) examined
the escalating military clashes and called for more day-to-day support for the
IGAD mediators, a coordinated strategy to re-energise the peace talks, and
drawing Sudanese political parties, civil society, and Egypt into the process.

ICG in Africa

‘ICG was impressive on several levels, including creating the environment that got us [to Burundi]
in the first place…ICG had energized the entire international system.’
Don Krumm, Senior Field Advisor, US Agency for International Development, 11 January 2002

‘I found Storm Clouds Over Sun City [on the Congolese peace process] extremely constructive and
I urge you to continue in that way.’
Ambassador Semakula Kiwanuka, Permanent Representative of Uganda to the UN, 25 June 2002

‘The book God, Oil and Country: Changing the Logic of War in Sudan, is a brilliant analysis of the
conflict that tears this country apart.’
Ambassador Josef Bucher, Switzerland, 22 March 2002
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Sudan’s Best Chance for Peace: How Not to Lose It (17 September)
analysed the delicate state of the negotiations and teased out unresolved
issues such as religion and the state and the relationships between the
central and regional governments. Ending Starvation as a Weapon of War
in Sudan (14 November) was directed at the UN and the warring parties as
they approached a crucial December meeting on barriers to humanitarian
aid. Power and Wealth Sharing: Make or Break Time in Sudan’s Peace
Process (18 December) summed up the achievements of the Machakos
process, which ended with the signing of an important Memorandum of
Understanding on power sharing.

• ICG proposals are included in a new U.S.$1 million fund to respond 
to the problem of slavery in Sudan. ICG also helped convince USAID 
to create a $U.S.10 million program to support inter-communal
peacemaking in Southern Sudan.

• ICG played a significant role in crafting key language in the U.S. Sudan
Peace Act.

Southern Africa
Zimbabwe

Since the presidential election of 9-10 March 2002, Zimbabwe has 
slid further back into authoritarianism, and its economic situation 
has worsened. The Commonwealth suspended Zimbabwe in March,
negotiations between President Robert Mugabe’s ZANU-PF regime and the
opposition Movement for Democratic Change (MDC) broke down in May,
and the U.S. and EU imposed targeted sanctions on Mugabe’s inner circle.
However, Mugabe’s land reform efforts and anti-colonial rhetoric resonate
in Africa and the African states.

Zimbabwe’s Election: The Stakes for Southern Africa (11 January)
examined the region’s policy options and urged South Africa and SADC
members to act decisively. All Bark and No Bite: The International
Response to Zimbabwe’s Crisis (25 January) was a comprehensive
criticism of the lack of international action, which included
recommendations for targeted sanctions.

• ICG had some impact on the adoption of targeted sanctions by the 
EU and U.S. in March, although they were implemented inconsistently,
and largely ineffectively.

• ICG’s calls for greater support for Zimbabwean civil society and
opposition were followed by increased aid to trade unions, NGOs,
human rights organisations and the MDC.

Zimbabwe at the Crossroads: Transition or Conflict (22 March) demonstrated
how the election was stolen by ZANU-PF and assessed the risks ahead.
The report’s recommendations outlined a path to transition through power-
sharing, constitutional reform, new economic and land policies and new

elections. None has been implemented. Zimbabwe: What Next? (14 June)
highlighted the deepening repression and argued for resolution of the crisis
through continued party-to-party talks and serious international pressure.

Zimbabwe: the Politics of National Liberation and International Division
(17 October) analysed the stark divide between the West and Africa in
their responses to Zimbabwe’s crisis. It urged South Africa and Nigeria 
to try to negotiate a solution between ZANU-PF and the MDC and 
the wider international community at the same time to take a more
nuanced approach of unilateral public pressure on the ZANU-PF regime,
and back-stage pressure on key African states to encourage more 
resolute action. Progress, it has to be said, has been negligible.

West Africa
Liberia

While the situation in Sierra Leone has continued to improve, a renewed
civil war is building in Liberia between President Charles Taylor’s forces 
and those of the LURD (Liberians United for Reconciliation and Democracy).
Liberia: The Key to Ending Regional Instability (24 April) showed how
Liberia’s internal conflict has been the catalyst for broader regional conflict,
notably the war in Sierra Leone.

• ICG’s reporting and advocacy was an important influence on the policy
debate on extending UN sanctions against Liberia.

Liberia: Unravelling (19 August) updated the military, political and
economic situation and showed that neither strict isolation of Taylor,
nor full engagement with him, has worked.

• ICG’s main recommendation, the formation of a Contact Group on
Liberia, has been adopted.

• A UN Special Representative for West Africa has been appointed 
and a UN Office established in Dakar.

Sierra Leone

After enduring one of the most shocking internal conflicts the world has
seen, Sierra Leone is making steady progress on peace and reconciliation.
ICG assessed the results of elections in Sierra Leone After Elections: Politics
as Usual? (12 July). It also reported on the performance of an important
justice mechanism in Sierra Leone’s Truth and Reconciliation Commission:
A Fresh Start? (20 December). ICG recommendations were reflected in:

• extension of the UN mandate in Sierra Leone;

• better access to the media by opposition parties following ICG’s election
reporting; and

• the appointment by the UN Secretary-General of a Special
Representative for the Mano River Union.

Central Africa

Burundi

• Proposals for a responsible post-conflict aid strategy

• Post cease fire security

• Land reform, refugee return and justice

Democratic Republic of Congo

• Security sector reform and effect of demobilisation

• Implementation of the power sharing agreement

• Conflict in the Kivus and Ituri

Rwanda

• Justice including Gacaca trials, trials of génocidaires, reconciliation

• Presidential election analysis

• ICTR annual update.

Uganda

• President Museveni’s challenges: internal divisions, the army, the economy

• The war in the north

Horn of Africa

Sudan

• Progress in the peace process

• Political pressures on the SPLA and the government in context 
of negotiations

• Role of governments outside the region

• International aid

• Democratisation

Somalia

• Progress in the IGAD peace process

• Counter-terrorism and state reconstruction

• Advancing peace and reconciliation

Southern Africa

Zimbabwe

• Land reform

• The eroding political situation and strategies for peaceful resolution

• The food emergency

• The roles of SADC, the African Union, NEPAD and South Africa

Angola

• Post-war consolidation: IDPs, landmines, DDRRR, transparency,
social services and democratic transition

• Peacebuilding policy options for the international community

West Africa

Sierra Leone

• Security developments in the east

• The Special Court, Truth and Reconciliation Commission and 
national reconciliation process

• Judicial reform, corruption, diamonds and illegal trading

Liberia

• The new Contact Group and the peace process

• Presidential elections

Guinea

• Internal politics ahead of December 2003 presidential elections

Cote D’Ivoire

• Root causes of the conflict, regional and national security situation

• The ECOWAS peace process, proposals for ECOWAS/UN peace keeping
force and French military role

• Regional impact of the crisis, emergence of new regional alliances,
and role of Burkina Faso

Into 2003 in Africa

Topics to be addressed in reports and briefing papers in 2003 include:

‘You have provided vital support to our efforts to resolve a number of conflicts in Africa such as
Burundi, DRC, Zimbabwe and the Mano River Union.’
Kofi Annan, UN Secretary General, 5 October 2002
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ICG in Asia

ICG’s Asia program covers a vast sweep of problems across 
a vast sweep of territory in Central Asia, Afghanistan, South
Asia, Indonesia, Myanmar and each side of the Taiwan Strait.
We can credibly claim to have influenced the course of
domestic and international debate on a great many issues
during the course of 2002, but measurable progress in both
conflict prevention and resolution remains painfully slow in
this region.

Afghanistan and South Asia

Afghanistan

Peace in Afghanistan is still fragile; indeed, the government has little remit
outside Kabul where it is protected by the International Security Assistance
Force (ISAF). ICG’s first Afghanistan briefing paper for 2002, Securing
Afghanistan: The Need for More International Action (15 March) urged 
the international community to expand ISAF’s mandate beyond Kabul.

• The recommendation remains unfulfilled, but European and U.S. opinion
has been shifting, with the need for an increased security presence now
widely acknowledged.

The Loya Jirga: One Small Step Forward? (16 May) was a frank
assessment of the pitfalls in the then forthcoming Grand National
Assembly, called to choose a head of state and Transitional Administration.
ICG was seen thereafter as the foremost analyst of the Loya Jirga, with the
international media in particular seeking our views throughout the process.

Shortly after the June meeting, ICG published an account of the
proceedings and again looked to the future in The Afghan Transitional
Administration: Prospects and Perils (30 July). Our warnings of the
potential for religious and ethnic sectarianism, rule by force and foreign
interference remain valid. President Hamid Karzai’s authority is precarious
and the warlords keep a firm grip on many outlying regions.

Pakistan

In Pakistan, General Pervez Musharraf has been consolidating his grip on
power, using the threat of continued militancy and terrorism as justification
for a system of enduring military rule. Pakistan: The Dangers of
Conventional Wisdom (12 March) described the risks associated with a
shift in Western policy priorities in the wake of 11 September. The briefing
paper warned that lifting demands for reform in order to build a coalition
against terrorism was counterproductive.

Pakistan: Madrasas, Extremism and the Military (29 July) showed the
weakness of the government’s response to the religious schools that 
have inflamed sectarian and terrorist violence across the country.
Pakistan: Transition to Democracy (3 October) reported that following
elections, Musharraf was laying out a blueprint for more military rule.
Constitutional changes announced in August gave him more powers than
any previous military ruler and undercut prospects for a return to democracy.

• The report became a key resource for international election monitors,
many of whom referred to it in their assessments of the voting process.

• ICG analysis has generated a great deal of attention in the region and
internationally, helping to sharpen critical scrutiny of the government 
and its reform proposals.

The confrontation between India and Pakistan in 2002 was extremely
dangerous. Kashmir: Confrontation and Miscalculation (11 July) examined
the risks in the immediate situation. Kashmir: The View from Srinagar
(21 November) analysed the somewhat surprising results of recent state
elections, which for the first time returned a leadership different from the
ruling party in New Delhi.

A recurring theme in ICG’s reports is to ensure that Pakistan fulfils
commitments to prevent incursions across the Line of Control and India is
held accountable for the behaviour of its troops, especially in respect of
human rights abuses. The reports also urge dialogue between Pakistan
and India, and with Kashmiris, to settle outstanding disputes. ICG’s work
on Kashmir is being watched especially closely by both India and Pakistan,
whose embassies keep in constant touch with our Brussels headquarters.

Central Asia

Following 11 September 2001, the nations of Central Asia – Kazakhstan,
Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan – have found
themselves wrestling with some new issues as well as the deep political
and economic problems that affect the region. Although the risk of Islamist
extremism has declined with fall of the Taliban, several governments have
extended authoritarian policies that push back prospects for reform and
may in fact fuel extremism. The U.S. military presence in Kyrgyzstan and
Uzbekistan has had both stabilising and unsettling effects. Problems of
economic failure, drugs, borders, poor policing and corruption continue 
to loom over the region.

• Attention drawn by ICG to the increasing authoritarianism of the Karimov
administration contributed to Western governments and international
organisations adopting a new emphasis on promoting human rights,
political development and economic reforms in Uzbekistan.

The IMU and Hizb-ut-Tahrir: Implications of the Afghanistan Campaign
(30 January) analysed the roots of an insurgency that threatens
Uzbekistan’s government directly but also has the capacity to exacerbate
tensions between Central Asian states. Washington’s designation of 
Hizb-ut-Tahrir as a terrorist organisation increased the demand for
knowledge about the organisation, which ICG helped to meet.

Central Asia: Border Disputes and Conflict Potential (4 April) and Central
Asia: Water and Conflict (30 May) outlined considerable irritants in the
relationships among the five states. Water has been the source of tensions
that have reduced prospects for regional cooperation and, therefore,
heightened wider security problems. Border disputes pose a greater
threat, particularly since Uzbekistan has mined some of its borders to
prevent incursions by the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan.

Kyrgyzstan’s Political Crisis: An Exit Strategy (20 August) highlighted the
increasing authoritarianism of the Kyrgyz regime and its violent response
to a series of demonstrations in 2002. The underlying political and
economic problems that gave rise to this manifestation of widespread
discontent have not gone away, and as the end of President Akaev’s 
term approaches in 2005, there is considerable potential for conflict.

The OSCE in Central Asia: A New Strategy (11 September) was extremely
well received as an agenda-setter within the organisation and by the
Netherlands Government, which assumed the Chairmanship in Office of
the OSCE in January 2003: ‘a timely report which exactly reflects our
concerns’. Central Asia: The Politics of Police Reform (10 December) also
received considerable attention in the OSCE, since it is trying to step up 
its activities in security sector reform.

Indonesia

The Bali bombings on 12 October focussed attention on the risks of
terrorism in Indonesia. Having already produced a detailed report,
Al-Qaeda in Southeast Asia: The Case of the ‘Ngruki Network’ in Indonesia
(8 August), ICG was well placed to provide immediate analysis. Within two
weeks of the attack, ICG published a briefing paper, Impact of the Bali
Bombings, firmly establishing itself as a leading authority on the issue 
in the global media and among policy makers. A further detailed report,
Indonesia Backgrounder: How the Jemaah Islamiyah Terrorist Network
Operates (11 December), developed ICG’s analysis.

• ICG’s reports were praised by Australian officials as ‘better than anything
available from intelligence agencies’.

The Indonesia project also continued its work on regional conflicts and
security with The Search for Peace in Maluku, Aceh: Slim Chance for 
Peace and Tensions on Flores: Local Symptoms of National Problems.
(The latter examined how tensions between the police and the military
heightened risks of communal violence on that small but fairly typical island.

• Special autonomy measures in Aceh and Papua are consistent with ICG
recommendations, but implementation and follow through has been weak.

A further briefing, Resuming U.S.-Indonesia Military Ties, was published
ahead of a U.S. Congress debate. It warned that a proposed aid package
would be seen as a gesture of approval of the Indonesian military and would
weaken Washington’s ability to demand greater human rights accountability.

• ICG has been influential in decisions to put military officers on trial for
abuses in East Timor, and military reform is under increasingly serious
discussion. However, resistance to change runs deep and there is little
prospect of significant progress in the near future.

‘The ICG's warning that ‘the international community should approach Pakistan and its problems
with open eyes’ must trigger a great deal of chagrin among members of Pakistan’s present-day
ruling establishment. However, some of the issues raised by the Brussels group should be central
to the thinking processes of Pakistan’s leaders.’
Farhan Bokhari, Financial Times Correspondent, 18 March 2002

‘The material from Indonesia is path-breaking and essential and I rely upon it very much.’
Paul Kelly, International Editor, The Australian, 24 January 2003
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Into 2003 in Asia

Myanmar

ICG’s work on Myanmar in 2002 stressed the need for expanded
humanitarian assistance. Two reports Myanmar: The Politics of
Humanitarian Aid and Myanmar: The HIV/AIDS Crisis (published
simultaneously on 2 April) argued that conventional approaches 
were not working and that the need for aid was urgent.

• The UK, U.S. EU and Australian governments have all increased 
their financing to tackle the problem of HIV/AIDS, consistent with 
ICG’s recommendations.

• UN and EU agencies are reviewing the humanitarian situation and 
their respective aid policies.

Myanmar: The Future of the Armed Forces (27 September) examined
security sector reform issues that will have to be tackled if a peace
process is to take hold. Overall, however, even though Aung Sang Suu Kyi
has been released from house arrest, the political environment remains
static and discouraging.

Taiwan Strait

In the last decade Taiwan has moved slowly but surely away from its
commitment to the idea of ‘one China’ – the proposition that Taiwan 
and the mainland are parts of one country. This formula, and the broad
international acceptance that has accompanied it, has for many years
been key to maintaining stability in cross-Strait relations, and its erosion
has the potential to create significant new security risks for an already
volatile region. A systematic re-evaluation of the state of play, and
reconsideration of the policy approach necessary to avoid conflict,
is clearly called for. Throughout 2002 ICG conducted extensive ground
research in Taipei, Beijing and Washington, which will bear fruit in a series
of four major policy reports planned for release in the first half of 2003.

Topics to be addressed in 2003 include:

Afghanistan and South Asia

• Peace building in Afghanistan including justice, prospects for women 
in government and their role in peacemaking, an Afghan security force,
Afghanistan and its neighbours, the Pashtuns after the Taliban, a new
constitution and reconciliation and political development

• Islamist influences in Pakistan including Islamist movements,
Islamisation of the legal system, political reform and economic security

• Prospects for peace in Kashmir including an examination of the roots of
the conflict, internal and external factors in India and Pakistan responsible
for perpetuating the conflict; the role and significance of Islamic
extremists; recommendations on how to resolve the dispute; and the
importance of those desiring independence from both India and Pakistan

• Origins of the conflict in Nepal; the history, doctrines, leaders and aims 
of the Maoist insurgents; Indian policy on the conflict; and internal 
reform issues

Central Asia

• Reform and prospects for transition in Uzbekistan

• Overview of the political and economic state of Turkmenistan

• How to support consolidation of the peace process in Tajikistan and 
the role of aid in conflict prevention

• Islam’s role in the region

• The decline in educational standards across the region and its significance

• Young peoples’ increasing exposure to drugs, crime and extremist groups

• A detailed assessment of Hizb-ut-Tahrir, a nominally peaceful Islamic
organisation considered by regional states to be a key security threat

• China in Central Asia

• The failure of regional cooperation

Indonesia

• How Jakarta’s political manoeuvring affects the conflicts in Aceh,
Papua, Maluku, and Poso

• The role of civilian auxiliaries to the security forces

• Decentralisation and conflict management

• Police reform, especially following terrorist attacks in Indonesia

• The impact of Special Autonomy in Papua

• The peace process in Aceh

• Update on Islamist groups including Jemaah Islamiyah and 
various militias

• Jemaah Islamiyah – the southern Philippines connection

• 2004 election manoeuvring and its impact on conflict areas

Myanmar/Burma

• Ethnic conflict and humanitarian assistance

• The military and the economy

• Progress in the political dialogue and how the international community
can assist

Taiwan Strait

• What’s left of ‘one China’ and why it matters

• The military balance and the risk of war

• The political contest and the path to peace in the short to medium term

• The path to peace in the longer term: the shape of an ultimate solution

‘[The OSCE in Central Asia: A New Strategy] is a timely report which exactly reflects our concerns;
I shall make sure that all of our Heads of Mission read it.’
Ambassador Daan Everts, 2003 Dutch OSCE Presidency, 12 September 2002

‘Congratulations on a first-class piece of work. I have circulated it [Ngruki Network Briefing]
widely here in the British Embassy.’
Richard Gozney, UK Ambassador to Indonesia, on ICG, 12 August 2002

‘I consider ICG to be the best, most reliable, and most interesting source of information on 
conflict areas around the globe. I assigned your articles in the course I teach on terrorism 
at Kennedy School.’
Jessica Stern, John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 28 January 2003

‘I have huge admiration for the International Crisis Group. It plays a really important role.’
Chris Patten, EU External Affairs Commissioner, CNN International, 16 July 2002

‘ICG has contributed enormously to the understanding of issues that affect the lives of millions
around the globe.’
UN Integrated Regional Information Network (IRIN), 19 July 2002
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ICG in Europe

ICG has been operating in the Balkans since 1996, maintaining in 2002 a field-based presence in Sarajevo, Belgrade, Pristina and
Skopje and a watching brief over Albania, Montenegro and Croatia. To the extent that the situation in the Balkans stabilises, and
the peacebuilding process is consolidated, our role there will continue to wind down. New projects, however, are being
established in 2003 in the Caucasus, commencing with Georgia, and in Moldova.

With the accompanying redesignation of the former ‘Balkans’ program as a wider-ranging ‘Europe’ one, ICG’s Brussels-based
Europe Program staff will also have greater responsibility for monitoring the European Union’s crisis response mechanisms 
and capabilities and for EU-focused advocacy.

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Bosnia is still an international dependency seven years after Dayton.
The arrival of the new High Representative, former ICG Board Member
Paddy Ashdown, has added vigour in pushing through reform, but systemic
problems remain. ICG’s influence on policy debates is very strong.
Our analysts in Sarajevo have a high profile in local media and regularly
meet local leaders and key international officials.

Some of Bosnia’s systemic problems were addressed by the
implementation in 2002 of the Constitutional Court’s decision on the
equality of Bosnia’s constituent peoples. ICG’s report, Implementing
Equality: the ‘Constituent Peoples’ Decision in Bosnia and Herzegovina
(16 April), was recognised as an important contribution to that process.
Courting Disaster: the Misrule of Law in Bosnia and Herzegovina and
Policing The Police In Bosnia: A Further Reform Agenda (10 May) set
ambitious but realistic reform targets for the international community 
and were warmly welcomed by the incoming High Representative.

As the campaign for October’s elections began, Bosnia’s Alliance 
for (Smallish) Change (2 August) assessed the performance of the 
non-nationalist coalition government installed in the BiH Federation after
the 2000 elections. The result of the election, which saw the return of
former nationalist parties to power, was widely misinterpreted as a return
to the past. ICG believes that the nationalist parties were seen by voters 
to be more capable of delivering reforms than the somewhat artificially-
constructed coalition.

The Continuing Challenge of Refugee Return in Bosnia and Herzegovina
(13 December) showed that there are increasing numbers of ‘minority’
returns to BiH, altering the prevailing political climate in much of the
country. The report warned against declaring prematurely that the issue
has been resolved, however, and pointed out that the true test will be
whether these people stay and prosper.

Croatia

A Half-Hearted Welcome: Refugee Returns to Croatia (13 December) 
found that the issue remains contentious in Croatia and that returning
Serbs in particular experience considerable discrimination, especially in
employment and the recognition of their property rights. The report was
welcomed by many in the international community; conditionality of
support will become a much more potent tool in Croatia in view of the
country’s pending EU membership application.

Kosovo

Kosovo remains under international administration following the NATO war
on Yugoslavia in 1999, but the issue that broadly defines the local political
mood is the question of final status. ICG’s concept of ‘conditional
independence’ was laid out in the companion reports, A Kosovo Roadmap
(I): Addressing Final Status (28 February) and A Kosovo Roadmap (II):
Internal Benchmarks (1 March).

• In May, UNMIK produced its own set of ‘benchmarks’, a watered down
version of those put forward by ICG.

UNMIK’s Kosovo Albatross: Tackling Division in Mitrovica (3 June),
exposed the Serbian government’s support for parallel structures in
Mitrovica, causing Belgrade considerable public embarrassment.

• Since this report was published, the illegal parallel administrative and
security structures in the northern half of the city have been replaced 
by direct UNMIK rule as we recommended, and French KFOR troops 
are being rotated out of Mitrovica.

Finding the Balance: The Scales of Justice in Kosovo (12 September)
examined reforms needed to anchor the rule of law in the province as well 
as the prosecution of sensitive offences such as war crimes and ethnically
motivated violence. Return to Uncertainty: Kosovo’s Internally Displaced and
the Return Process (13 December) emphasised the importance to the return
process of diligent application of international principles, smart security,
strong coordination mechanisms and the support of the receiving community.

Macedonia

While the main elements of the 2001 Ohrid Agreement were finally
adopted by parliament by May 2002, occasional violent incidents
continued. The 15 September parliamentary elections delivered a landslide
victory to opposition parties, reflecting popular dissatisfaction, especially
over corruption.

Addressing those concerns, Macedonia’s Public Secret: How Corruption
Drags The Country Down (14 August) was published to intense local media
interest. It examined several well-established cases of alleged corruption
at the highest levels of government, explored the linkage between the
issue and the previous year’s conflict, and argued that sustained ethnic
harmony cannot be bought by the division of spoils between the main
ethnic chieftains at the cost of the country’s long-term economic
development and stability.

Moving Macedonia Toward Self Sufficiency: A New Security Approach for
NATO and the EU (15 November), urging the necessity for a follow-on
force to the NATO peace-keeping mission, was released at a crucial
moment in negotiations.

Serbia and Montenegro

The consequences of the problematic agreement in March between
Belgrade and Podgorica, and the EU’s role in securing that agreement,
were explored in Still Buying Time: Montenegro, Serbia and the European
Union (7 May). While the EU’s vigorous engagement in the region is to be
welcomed, its methods and policies are not always so well chosen.
The signing of the agreement plunged Montenegro into a political crisis.

Politicians in Serbia remain caught between ambitions for integration 
into Euro-Atlantic structures and reluctance to deal with crucial aspects 
of the Milosevic legacy, including co-operation with the ICTY and full
establishment of the rule of law. These issues were dealt with in
Belgrade’s Lagging Reforms: Cause for International Concern (7 March)
that kept a spotlight on the need for strong international conditionality 
on assistance and integration to support reform.

A key element of the political landscape is lack of civilian control of the
military. This was addressed in two briefing papers keyed to specific
incidents: Serbia: Military Intervention Threatens Democratic Reform
(28 March), which considered the extraordinary circumstances
surrounding the detention in March of a deputy prime minister and an
American diplomat; and Fighting to Control Yugoslavia’s Military (12 July),
which explored the ramifications of the sacking in June of the army’s chief
of staff under Western pressure.

Arming Saddam: The Yugoslav Connection (3 December) was effective in
highlighting the extent to which the Yugoslav military has not been called
to account. The report examined breaches of international law by the
military establishment’s export of weapons and related materials to Iraq.
Though this report generated heated debate, ICG’s diplomatic contacts
continue to indicate its findings were sound.

‘Thank you for another excellent International Crisis Group report. We are pleased to see that many
of the recommendations detailed in this latest [Macedonia] report have already been realized.’
Bill Graham, Canadian Minister of Foreign Affairs, 14 January 2003

‘I thought the latest [report] was superb and will be used by me as something of a bible in
tackling the Rule of Law issue in BiH when I get there.’
Lord (Paddy) Ashdown, High Representative for Bosnia and Herzegovina, 12 April 2002



18 19Into 2003 in Europe ICG in Latin America

Into 2003 in Europe ICG in Latin America

2002 was the first year since 1997 that no conflict erupted or escalated in the Balkans. In recognition of this increased stability,
ICG intends scaling back its presence in Macedonia to a watching brief by mid-2003, as is currently the case with Albania,
Montenegro and Croatia. That said, the assassination of Serbian Premier Zoran Djindic as this report was going to press serves as
an unhappy reminder that the security situation in a number of parts of the Balkans remains fragile, that peacebuilding still has
some distance to go, and that ICG’s association with the region may need to continue for some time yet.

In the Caucasus, the project will initially involve a field office in Tbilisi, with reports concentrating on Georgia and its separatist
regions, but in future years the scope of the project should broaden. In relation to Moldova, although the issues on which ICG
proposes to report are complex, our presence in that country may not need to be protracted. To assist with both these new
projects (and with our Central Asia project, and with ICG advocacy generally) a liaison office will be opened in Moscow in 2003.

Topics to be addressed in reports and briefing papers on Europe* in 2003 include:

The persistence in Colombia of internal armed conflict involving the left-wing FARC and ELN insurgents and the paramilitary AUC –
with drug trafficking, kidnapping and extortion funding much of the armed groups’ activities – represents a major continuing
threat not only to Colombia itself but to the stability of the Andean region as a whole. ICG’s Colombia/Andes project aims to
identify and argue for the strategies most likely to bring this long-running and wracking conflict to an end.

Albania
• Pan-Albanian nationalism

Bosnia and Herzegovina
• The nationalists’ return to power

• The EU and BiH: does Bosnia have a European future?

• Will BiH go bankrupt?

• Getting out of Brcko

• Media reform

• Follow-up on judicial reform

Caucasus
• Russia and the frozen conflicts

• The coming succession crisis

• Making peace in Abkhazia

Kosovo
• Local government reform/decentralisation

• UNMIK/PISG relations

• KFOR downsizing

• The path to final status discussions

• Institution-building (the health and education systems)

• The future of the Kosovo Protection Corps

Macedonia

• Local government reform/decentralisation

• The international community intervention of 2000-2002: lessons learned

Moldova

• How to write a better peace treaty

• The crisis of governance

Serbia and Montenegro

• Serbia after the Djindic assassination

• Montenegro after the 2002-2003 elections

• Trouble brewing in Sandzak

• The European Union and the new state of Serbia and Montenegro

• Economic reforms – progress or blockage?

* For reports on the European Union’s crisis response mechanisms and
capabilities, see page 23, Thematic Issues.

Following the collapse of peace talks between the Pastrana government
and the FARC in February 2002, Álvaro Uribe won an unprecedented first-
round victory in the presidential election on promises to enforce the state’s
authority, double the military’s combat forces, and deploy one million
citizens as unarmed, voluntary vigilantes.

President Uribe is still enjoying a remarkable political honeymoon but there
is as yet no fundamental change in the conflict. The cautionary note
contained within ICG recommendations, and etched into U.S. legal
conditionality, requires Colombia to make good on its stated commitment
to sever links between the paramilitary and the armed forces and do more
to respect human rights. Suspicion about President Uribe’s future actions
on this issue has continued to draw criticism from NGOs and to limit the
level of support in the U.S. Congress and, even more so, in Europe.
The rate of controversial aerial spraying of drug crops has nearly doubled.

ICG published five reports and briefing papers on Colombia in 2002.
Colombia’s Elusive Quest for Peace (26 March) was a substantial report on
the history of the peace negotiations. Two shorter briefings, The 10 March
Parliamentary Elections in Colombia (17 April), and The Stakes in the
Presidential Election in Colombia (22 May), examined the political landscape
and identified the factors that soon thereafter resulted in Uribe’s victory.

The Colombian government has adopted several recommendations from
Prospects for Peace with the ELN (4 October), including asking UN
Secretary-General Kofi Annan to expand the UN special adviser’s mandate
so he can assist with those talks. Colombia: Will Uribe’s Honeymoon Last?
(19 December) provided a detailed assessment of the Uribe administration’s
first four months and the challenges it will have to overcome.

ICG’s reports have contributed to:

• the lifting of limitations on U.S. aid to anti-drugs operations so that it
can be used for military purposes;

• the Colombian government’s internal peace-related discussions;

• critical discussion of the effectiveness of current counter-drug policy;

• public debate on avoiding blanket immunity in the context of
negotiations between the Colombian government and the paramilitaries;

• public debate on safeguarding fundamental rights and increasing
humanitarian assistance as part of the government’s security policy; and

• broadening international participation in the exploratory talks between
the Colombian government and the ELN.

Into 2003 in Latin America

Topics to be addressed in 2003 include:

• The regional effect of the Colombian conflict on Venezuela, Peru,
Ecuador and Panama through the flow of arms, money, and drugs,
and the displacement of refugees

• Policy recommendations for achieving more effective Andean 
security cooperation

• The history, financing, structure and power of the paramilitary,
including involvement in drugs

• The AUC ceasefire proposal and the need to ensure that the response
promotes rather than retards a full resolution of the conflict

• The growing humanitarian crisis and the inadequate national and
international response

• Interaction between drug cultivation, processing and trafficking and the
conflict, national and international responses, including avenues for
more promising alternative policies and programs

• Institutional reform and the part institutional weakness, particularly the
virtual absence of rule of law in rural areas, plays in prolonging the conflict

• Growing social inequalities and the state failure to remedy them

• Negotiation strategies for pursuing peace talks, possible elements of 
and a roadmap to an ‘end game’

• Disarmament, demobilisation and rehabilitation of fighters

‘Your Balkans Programme, encompassing projects in Albania, Bosnia, Kosovo, FYROM, Montenegro
and Serbia, has developed an excellent track record. It has been an intellectual as well as a
practical stimulus for the UN’s work in the region.’
Kofi Annan, UN Secretary General, 5 October 2002

‘The ICG is regarded as a pre-eminent organisation in the field of conflict prevention and we very
much welcome the reports you forward on a regular basis. These reports are widely consulted
within our institution.’
Carlos Manuel Muñiz, President, Argentine Council for International Relations, 4 November 2002
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ICG in the Middle East and North Africa

ICG’s Middle East and North Africa Program covers the Arab-Islamic world from Morocco to Iran, addressing more difficult,
intractable and intensely controversial issues than, perhaps, the rest of the organisation put together. Our most important work in 
2002 – especially defining the terms of a workable Israeli-Palestinian settlement – unquestionably helped set the terms of international
debate. Whether it altered any outcomes, in an increasingly polarised policy world, is a harder call, but ICG’s effort continues.

Iraq, Iran and the Gulf States

The Gulf region has been the subject of intense international focus in the
wake of the attacks of 11 September. Key issues include Iran’s internal
political struggles (and the extent to which it justified inclusion in President
Bush’s ‘axis of evil’) and Saudi Arabia’s alleged indirect role in spawning
violence, but the most salient has been the Iraq crisis. ICG’s contribution to
the debate in 2002 focused on the question of what we could know of the
attitude of Iraq’s people to military intervention, and the challenges of
building a new political order with or without war.

The publication of Iran: The Struggle for the Revolution’s Soul (5 August)
coincided with a significant recalibration of U.S. policy toward Iran.
The report pointed out the dangers of assuming that either the
conservatives or reformers constituted homogenous blocs, or that the
former had definitely defeated the latter. Instead, it described a highly fluid
situation that will continue to unfold in the coming months and years, and
which the actions of the international community can affect for better or for
worse. Since the report was issued, strong statements by President Khatami
against the clerics have confirmed and buttressed its principal conclusion.

Iraq Backgrounder: What Lies Beneath (1 October) analysed the
mechanics of Saddam Hussein’s rule and the political dynamics that
govern relations between religious and ethnic entities, and described the
various opposition groups and their potential role.

Voices from the Iraqi Street (4 December), drawn from multiple on-the-
ground interviews over a period of several weeks by an ICG researcher
with long experience in the country, generated enormous media interest.
Broadly, it found that many Iraqis viewed a U.S. intervention as inevitable,
with some prepared to support this if it would deliver a return to normalcy
and end their isolation and frustration. While the report pointed out that
this did not mean that war was either inevitable or advisable – with many
other criteria having to be satisfied – this was not always the way its
findings were qualified in public discussion.

Egypt/North Africa

ICG’s work in this area continued to focus in 2002 on Algeria (previously
part of the Africa Program): it will expand in 2003 to cover developments
in Egypt, with a watching brief elsewhere in North Africa.

In Algeria, hopes that President Bouteflika’s election in 1999 would lead 
to an early and complete end to the violence have been disappointed,
and the reform program has largely been bogged down in both factional
and ideological disputes. While the security position has improved,
violence continues at a lower level without the objectives of the armed
movements being at all clear. The inexplicability of the violence and the
regime’s failure to create any sense of accountability has combined 
with increasing pauperisation to reinforce many Algerians’ sense of
hopelessness and the alienation of much of the population from the political
class as a whole, a development which has been a major factor in the
continuing interest in Kabylia and the continually stalled reform program.

Diminishing Returns: Algeria’s 2002 Parliamentary Elections (24 June),
pointed out that the formal political system – both parliament and the
parties – was facing increasing risks of irrelevance. Neither the president
nor prime minister have the authority needed to implement reform policies
effectively, as decision-makers (mainly military) behind the scenes thwart
many initiatives. At the same time, the opposition parties have failed 
to canvass realistic political projects, capable of eliciting serious public
support, and have tended to contribute to their own discredit in the eyes 
of public opinion.

Arab-Israeli Conflict

The tragic escalation of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, its potential
destabilising ramifications for the rest of the region, and its significance as a
motivator for global terrorism, led the Middle East Program to concentrate its
resources on an examination of possible strategies to contain and resolve it.
After consultation with many actors across the spectrum, ICG concluded that
a renewed Oslo-style incremental or sequential approach would replicate the
failings of the past and would not arrest the cycle of violence. What was
needed was an alternative approach that put the ‘endgame’ up front,
including a detailed blueprint of the solution that the international community
would back. The project has made this case forcefully and sought to
persuade relevant members of the international community.

A Time To Lead: The International Community and the Israeli-Palestinian
Conflict (10 April) was the first step in that endeavour. It mapped out the
history and conflicting perspectives on the conflict and discussed the flaws
of the incremental approach as embodied not only in the Oslo Process but
also in the numerous proposals that have been made to end the current
cycle of violence. The report outlined an alternative approach in which the
international community, led by the United States, would put forward a
proposed final status settlement and use it as leverage to obtain an
immediate cease-fire backed by an international civil and military presence.

• The discussion of the possible role of an international presence was one
of the first of its type, and has since served as a basis for discussion
within the Israeli Defence Forces and various governments.

European and Arab officials urged us to develop a detailed blueprint of a
possible settlement, arguing that they were not in a position to do so but
that it was an essential and urgent step. ICG embarked on that ambitious
task, consulting extensively with Israelis and Palestinians as well as UN and
other officials. Having concluded that only a comprehensive Arab-Israeli
peace would lead to comprehensive normalisation, ICG also put on the table
draft Israeli-Syrian and Israeli-Lebanese peace treaties. The result was three
simultaneously issued Middle East Endgame reports, published on 16 July:
I: Getting to a Comprehensive Arab-Israeli Settlement; II: How a
Comprehensive Israeli-Palestinian Peace Settlement Would Look; and III:
Israel, Syria and Lebanon – How Comprehensive Peace Settlements Would
Look. These reports form the most extensive and detailed attempt to date to
describe the elements of a comprehensive Arab-Israeli peace, with proposals
on all the major issues in contention, maps of territorial outcomes, and
explanations of the role of an international military and civilian presence.

• The Endgame reports have been warmly praised by British Prime
Minister Blair, the EU’s Javier Solana and Chris Patten, and numerous
other European and Arab leaders. They were explicitly drawn upon by EU
Foreign Ministers in the ‘roadmap’ formulation they produced at Elsinore
in August, and used as a basis for Track II discussions.

While the ICG approach was also well received in sections of the U.S.
administration, international movement has stalled in the face of U.S.
unwillingness to put Arab-Israeli conflict resolution ahead of Palestinian
institutional reform, and its preoccupation with the situation in Iraq.

A briefing paper, The Meanings of Palestinian Reform (12 November),
argued that while there is wide support for reform among Palestinians,
international insistence on reform as a precondition for a peace settlement
is harming prospects for reaching peace. Old Games, New Rules: Conflict
on the Israel-Lebanon Border (18 November) followed up the Endgame
reports by examining the often overlooked but highly explosive problems 
of southern Lebanon.

‘Hard facts and clear data seem to be in short supply and yet are badly needed. This piece is the
best backgrounder on the history of Saddam’s regime; the current state of play and analysis of
the opposition that I have come across.’
James Garrison, President, State of the World Forum, 11 October 2002

‘A Time To Lead, the very recent report on the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, is truly a first-rate piece:
lucid, informative, balanced, constructive and action-oriented. It is a great illustration of ICG’s role
and contribution.’
Abraham F. Lowenthal, Founding President of the Pacific Council on International Policy, 6 May 2002
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Topics to be addressed in reports and briefing papers planned for 2003 include: In addition to its location-specific reports, ICG also produces from time to time reports on thematic issues, combining the
resources of its field staff and Brussels-based research team. Work in 2002 , some of which will bear fruit in 2003, focused on
European Union crisis response mechanisms and capabilities, HIV/AIDS as a security issue and conflict prevention methodology.
A major focus of ICG thematic research also continues to be global terrorism: this work, however, is more likely to be reflected 
in our many country or region-specific reports on terrorism-related issues than in broadly-focused thematic reports.

Arab-Israeli Conflict

• An investigation into violence in the Jordanian city of Maan

• Next steps in the peace process: With Israel’s elections over and the
inter-Palestinian dialogue underway, the options (if any) to end the
violence and revive the peace process, dynamics among the two 
camps and the international community and alternatives – the roadmap,
a trusteeship, unilateral Israeli disengagement – as well as the potential
impact of an Iraq war

• The role of Islamist charities in providing social services in West Bank
and Gaza

• How the EU can enhance its influence in Israel and the 
Occupied Territories

• Israeli Arabs

• What a settlement freeze is and how it would work

• The role of Islamism in the Israel-Arab conflict

• Attitudes of Palestinian refugees to the peace process and any future deal

• The Arab world and the peace process

• Domestic politics, international policy and the challenge of reform in Syria

Egypt/North Africa

• Algeria: the protests in Kabylia 2001-2003

• Algeria: national reconciliation and the war on terrorism

• Algeria: how to end the crisis

• Egypt: internal developments

• North African Islamism

Iran

• Student protests and the future of Iran

• Tehran’s threat perception

Iraq

• Alternatives to war?

• Life after Saddam: how best to approach the task of rebuilding political
and civil societies

• The role of tribes

• Shiism: aspirations, diversity, religious institutions, and 
partisan representation

• The political economy: debt, oil, and reconstruction and how the stakes
of key players (U.S., Russia, France, Saudi Arabia, Turkey) will affect the
country’s future

• Reversing the process of Arabisation

The Gulf

• Democratisation: lessons learned from Kuwait, Bahrain and Qatar.

Cross-Regional Topics

• Water and conflict

• Exiled communities in Europe: the Arab experience of migration

European Union Conflict Prevention and Crisis
Management Capability

The progress of the European Union’s ambitious plans to construct a
capacity to respond rapidly to crises through either civilian or military
means is important for a number of the problems areas with which ICG 
is engaged. In the Balkans and the Middle East, for example, the EU is
increasingly seen as the most competent complement, and in some
instances alternative, to the U.S., at least in relation to conflict prevention.
Since the baseline reporting that was done in June 2001 (EU Crisis
Response Capability: Institutions and Processes for Conflict Prevention 
and Management), we have monitored developments from our Brussels
headquarters. The first of what will be a periodic series, EU Crisis Response
Capabilities: An Update (29 April) examined the impact of 11 September
events as well as important decisions taken in the last half of 2001 during
the Belgian Presidency. The same team follows closely the important and
rapidly evolving story of EU enlargement and constitutional reform.

In 2003 ICG will publish a further update on European crisis response and
security capabilities, evaluating the impact of acute internal policy differences
on Iraq and taking a special look at EU work on the Israel-Arab conflict.

• The major benefit of this series is regarded as educational, explaining in
particular but not solely to non-Europeans the extent and significance of
what the European Union is doing to forge for itself a more ambitious
and responsible role in political and military crises.

Guide to Conflict Prevention Tools

The research unit is developing a guide to conflict prevention tools that 
will survey the range of political/diplomatic, legal, economic and military
measures, both long and short-term and coercive and non-coercive in
character, that are potentially available and effective in crisis situations.
The project, drawing on our own field experience as well as the accumulated
literature, is conceived of as benefiting a broader audience but also as
helping our own field analysts to sharpen their policy prescriptions.

The project is expected to bear fruit in 2003 with the publication, as an
ICG report, of ‘Conflict Prevention Toolbox: A Practitioner’s Guide’.

HIV/AIDS as a Security Issue

Following the publication of HIV/AIDS as a Security Issue (June 2001),
ICG has concentrated its focus on advocacy. Our testimony before the 
U.S. Congress and participation in a ‘Group of Notables’ with the 
directors of UNAIDS and the HIV/AIDS Global Fund led to incorporation 
of recommendations on AIDS awareness and peacekeeping in bi-partisan
legislation approved by the U.S. Senate Foreign Relations Committee.
ICG Senior Vice President Mark Schneider also co-chaired an
NGO/intergovernmental task force whose report on ‘Destabilising Impacts
of HIV/AIDS’, with special focus on China, Russia, India, Nigeria, Ethiopia
and other parts of sub-Saharan Africa, helped prompt a complementary
U.S. government study.

In 2003 our focus will continue to be on advocacy, but with some
supplementary country-specific reporting, as resources permit, on the
local impact of HIV/AIDS on security and stability.

‘ [The Middle East Endgame reports are] a solid basis for meaningful negotiations and a fair
solution: they hit the right note.’

Amre Moussa, Secretary-General of the Arab League, 6 August 2002

‘Your report [The Meanings of Palestinian Reform] was certainly the best-informed, most serious
and useful analysis of the subject from any quarter since the issue acquired such proportions
this year. Thank you very much for this incisive document.’
Raja Khalidi, Coordinator, Assistance to the Palestinian people, UNCTAD, on ICG report 18 November 2002

‘The International Crisis Group provides the high-quality analysis and policy recommendations
that can help prevent and reduce the level of deadly violence resulting from complex crises.’
United States House of Representatives, 107th Congress Report, 19 September 2002

‘ICG’s reports…are remarkably thorough and analytically sophisticated.’
Norman Dorsen, Frederick I. and Grace A. Stokes Professor of Law, New York University, 6 February 2003
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All reports and briefing papers are available at ICG’s website:

www.crisisweb.org
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AFRICA

Burundi
Burundi: After Six Months of Transition:
Continuing the War or Winning the Peace
Africa Report N°46, 24 May 2002 (also available in French)

The Burundi Rebellion and the 
Ceasefire Negotiations
Africa Briefing, 6 August 2002

Democratic Republic of Congo
Storm Clouds Over Sun City: The Urgent Need 
To Recast The Congolese Peace Process
Africa Report N°38, 14 May 2002 (also available in French)

Rwanda
The International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda:
The Countdown
Africa Report N°50, 1 August 2002 (also available in French)

Rwanda At The End of the Transition:
A Necessary Political Liberalisation
Africa Report N°53, 13 November 2002 (also available 
in French)

Somalia
Somalia: Countering Terrorism in a Failed State
Africa Report N°45, 23 May 2002

Salvaging Somalia’s Chance For Peace
Africa Briefing, 9 December 2002

Sudan
God, Oil & Country: Changing the Logic of War 
in Sudan
Africa Report N°39, 28 January 2002

Capturing the Moment: Sudan’s Peace Process 
in the Balance
Africa Report N°42, 3 April 2002 

Dialogue or Destruction? Organising for Peace as
the War in Sudan Escalates
Africa Report N°48, 27 June 2002

Sudan’s Best Chance For Peace: How Not To Lose It
Africa Report N°51, 17 September 2002

Ending Starvation as a Weapon of War in Sudan
Africa Report N°54, 14 November 2002

Power and Wealth Sharing: Make or Break Time in
Sudan’s Peace Process
Africa Report N°55, 18 December 2002

West Africa
Liberia: The Key to Ending Regional Instability
Africa Report N°43, 24 April 2002

Sierra Leone After Elections: Politics as Usual?
Africa Report N°49, 12 July 2002

Liberia: Unravelling
Africa Briefing, 19 August 2002

Sierra Leone’s Truth and Reconciliation
Commission: A Fresh Start?
Africa Briefing, 20 December 2002

Zimbabwe
Zimbabwe’s Election:
The Stakes for Southern Africa
Africa Briefing, 11 January 2002

All Bark and No Bite:
The International Response to Zimbabwe’s Crisis
Africa Report N°40, 25 January 2002

Zimbabwe at the Crossroads: Transition or Conflict?
Africa Report N°41, 22 March 2002

Zimbabwe: What Next?
Africa Report N° 47, 14 June 2002

Zimbabwe: The Politics of National Liberation and
International Division
Africa Report N°52, 17 October 2002

ASIA

Central Asia
The IMU and the Hizb-ut-Tahrir: Implications of the
Afghanistan Campaign
Central Asia Briefing, 30 January 2002 (also available 
in Russian)

Central Asia: Border Disputes and Conflict Potential
Asia Report N°33, 4 April 2002 (also available in Russian)

Central Asia: Water and Conflict
Asia Report N°34, 30 May 2002

Kyrgyzstan’s Political Crisis: An Exit Strategy
Asia Report N°37, 20 August 2002 (also available in Russian)

The OSCE in Central Asia: A New Strategy
Asia Report N°38, 11 September 2002

Central Asia: The Politics of Police Reform
Asia Report N°42, 10 December 2002

Indonesia
Indonesia: The Search for Peace in Maluku
Asia Report N°31, 8 February 2002 (also available in 
Bahasa Indonesia)

Aceh: Slim Chance for Peace
Indonesia Briefing, 27 March 2002

Indonesia: The Implications of the Timor Trials
Indonesia Briefing, 8 May 2002 (also available in 
Bahasa Indonesia)

Resuming U.S.-Indonesia Military Ties
Indonesia Briefing, 21 May 2002

Al-Qaeda in Southeast Asia:
The case of the ‘Ngruki Network’ in Indonesia
Indonesia Briefing, 8 August 2002

Indonesia: Resources And Conflict In Papua
Asia Report N°39, 13 September 2002 (also available in 
Bahasa Indonesia)

Tensions on Flores:
Local Symptoms of National Problems
Indonesia Briefing, 10 October 2002

Impact of the Bali Bombings
Indonesia Briefing, 24 October 2002

Indonesia Backgrounder: How The Jemaah
Islamiyah Terrorist Network Operates
Asia Report N°43, 11 December 2002

Myanmar
Myanmar: The Politics of Humanitarian Aid
Asia Report N°32, 2 April 2002

Myanmar: The HIV/AIDS Crisis,
Myanmar Briefing, 2 April 2002

Myanmar: The Future of the Armed Forces
Myanmar Briefing, 27 September 2002

Afghanistan/South Asia
Pakistan: The Dangers of Conventional Wisdom
Pakistan Briefing, 12 March 2002

Securing Afghanistan:
The Need for More International Action
Afghanistan Briefing, 15 March 2002

The Loya Jirga: One Small Step Forward?
Afghanistan Briefing, 16 May 2002

Kashmir: Confrontation and Miscalculation
Asia Report N°35, 11 July 2002

Pakistan: Madrasas, Extremism and the Military
Asia Report N°36, 29 July 2002

The Afghan Transitional Administration:
Prospects and Perils
Afghanistan Briefing, 30 July 2002

Pakistan: Transition to Democracy?
Asia Report N°40, 3 October 2002

Kashmir: The View From Srinagar
Asia Report N°41, 21 November 2002

EUROPE

Bosnia
Courting Disaster:
The Misrule of Law in Bosnia & Herzegovina
Balkans Report N°127, 26 March 2002 (also available 
in Bosnian)

Implementing Equality: The ‘Constituent Peoples’
Decision in Bosnia & Herzegovina
Balkans Report N°128, 16 April 2002 (also available in Bosnian)

Policing the Police in Bosnia:
A Further Reform Agenda
Balkans Report N°130, 10 May 2002 (also available in Bosnian)

Bosnia’s Alliance for (Smallish) Change
Balkans Report N°132, 2 August 2002 (also available 
in Bosnian)

The Continuing Challenge Of Refugee Return In
Bosnia & Herzegovina
Balkans Report N°137, 13 December 2002 (also available 
in Bosnian)

Croatia
A Half-Hearted Welcome: Refugee Return to Croatia
Balkans Report N°138, 13 December 2002

Kosovo
A Kosovo Roadmap (i) Addressing Final Status
Balkans Report N°124, 28 February 2002 (also available in
Albanian and Serbo-Croat)

A Kosovo Roadmap (ii) Internal Benchmarks
Balkans Report N°125, 1 March 2002 (also available in Albanian
and Serbo-Croat)

UNMIK’s Kosovo Albatross:
Tackling Division in Mitrovica
Balkans Report N°131, 3 June 2002 (also available in Albanian
and Serbo-Croat)

Finding the Balance:
The Scales of Justice in Kosovo
Balkans Report N°134, 12 September 2002 (also available 
in Albanian)

Return to Uncertainty: Kosovo’s Internally Displaced
and The Return Process
Balkans Report N°139, 13 December 2002 (also available in
Albanian and Serbo-Croat)

Macedonia
Macedonia’s Public Secret:
How Corruption Drags The Country Down
Balkans Report N°133, 14 August 2002 (also available 
in Macedonian)

Moving Macedonia Toward Self-Sufficiency:
A New Security Approach for NATO and the EU
Balkans Report N°135, 15 November 2002 (also available 
in Macedonian)

Montenegro
Still Buying Time:
Montenegro, Serbia and the European Union
Balkans Report N°129, 7 May 2002 (also available in Serbian)

Serbia
Belgrade’s Lagging Reform:
Cause for International Concern
Balkans Report N°126, 7 March 2002 (also available in 
Serbo-Croat)

Serbia: Military Intervention Threatens 
Democratic Reform
Balkans Briefing, 28 March 2002 (also available in Serbo-Croat)

Fighting To Control Yugoslavia’s Military
Balkans Briefing, 12 July 2002 (also available in Serbo-Croat)

Arming Saddam: The Yugoslav Connection
Balkans Report N°136, 3 December 2002 (also available in
Serbo-Croat)

LATIN AMERICA

Colombia
Colombia’s Elusive Quest for Peace
Latin America Report N°1, 26 March 2002 (also available 
in Spanish)

The 10 March 2002 Parliamentary Elections 
in Colombia
Latin America Briefing, 17 April 2002 (also available in Spanish)

The Stakes in the Presidential Election in Colombia
Latin America Briefing, 22 May 2002 (also available in Spanish)

Colombia: The Prospects for Peace with the ELN
Latin America Report N°2, 4 October 2002 (also available 
in Spanish)

Colombia: Will Uribe’s Honeymoon Last?
Latin America Briefing, 19 December 2002 (also available 
in Spanish)

MIDDLE EAST

Algeria
Diminishing Returns:
Algeria’s 2002 Legislative Elections
Middle East Briefing, 24 June 2002 

Arab-Israeli Conflict
A Time to Lead: The International Community and
the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict
Middle East Report N°1, 10 April 2002 

Middle East Endgame I: Getting to a Comprehensive
Arab-Israeli Peace Settlement
Middle East Report N°2, 16 July 2002 (also available in Arabic)

Middle East Endgame II: How a Comprehensive
Israeli-Palestinian Settlement Would Look
Middle East Report N°3; 16 July 2002 (also available in Arabic)

Middle East Endgame III: Israel, Syria and Lebanon
– How Comprehensive Peace Settlements 
Would Look
Middle East Report N°4, 16 July 2002 (also available in Arabic)

Old Games, New Rules:
Conflict on the Israel-Lebanon Border
Middle East Report N°7, 18 November 2002 (also available 
in Arabic)

Iraq/Iran/Gulf
Iran: The Struggle for the Revolution’s Soul
Middle East Report N°5, 5 August 2002

Iraq Backgrounder: What Lies Beneath
Middle East Report N°6, 1 October 2002

The Meanings of Palestinian Reform
Middle East Briefing, 12 November 2002

Voices From The Iraqi Street
Middle East Briefing, 4 December 2002

ISSUES REPORTS
EU Crisis Response Capabilities: An Update
Issues Briefing, 29 April 2002

‘I welcome your initiative in putting these [Middle East Endgame] reports together and getting
them out into the public domain. Your reports have gone a lot further in spelling out in a greater
level of detail what a settlement could look like. That is something that I doubt any Government
could have done at this stage…I believe your work has real value’.
Tony Blair, UK Prime Minister, 6 August 2002



Measuring the progress of an organisation such as ICG –
whose mission is to help prevent and contain deadly conflict –
is inevitably an inexact science. Quantitative measures 
provide some sense of the level of activity of the organisation,
and of others’ response, but have their limitations.
Qualitative judgements are necessarily subjective: it is difficult
for anyone to establish a close causal relationship between
any given argument and outcome, particularly if the desired
outcome is for something (here, conflict) – not to happen.
Nevertheless, judgements do have to be made. What indicators
are available, and what do they tell us about ICG’s progress 
in 2002?

Operations

2002 was a year primarily of consolidation following very rapid growth in
2000 and 2001. The Middle East and North Africa Program, begun in late
2001, became well established with regional headquarters in Amman,
analysts on the ground in Israel and Egypt and consultants working
elsewhere. Some expansion occurred with the West Africa, Horn of Africa and
South Asia projects broadening their reach, and a new Taiwan Strait project
commencing. ICG operates a total of five regional programs, and reported
from 35 different countries or entities in 2002 (24 in 2001). Core full time
staff positions increased by early 2003 to 90 (75 in 2001), with staff in 
place having between them 30 nationalities and 41 languages.

Output

ICG again increased the number of reports and briefing papers published,
from 70 in 2001 to 82 in 2002. (In addition, ICG increasingly publishes
translations of its reports into relevant languages including Albanian,
Arabic, Bahasa Indonesia, Bosnian, French, Macedonian, Russian and
Serbo-Croatian.) Briefing papers are generally 10-15 pages in length 
and reports 25-50 pages, with one in 2002 (on Sudan) at book-length.
Reports and briefing papers are sent out in printed form to more than 3,200
policymakers and those who influence them. A further 9,500 targeted
recipients are sent our publications by email notification or attachment, while
another 9,500 readers have subscribed directly through our website.
Altogether, that makes a readership of around 22,000 per report. All ICG
publications are posted on our website: 770,000 copies of reports and
briefing papers were downloaded from www.crisisweb.org in 2002.

Support

ICG’s income continued to grow in 2002, with a surge in funding from
foundations, and a small rise in government contributions: available funds
increased to $U.S. 8.8 million in 2002 (from $7 million in 2001). Eighteen
governments supported ICG in 2002 (up from 15 in 2001): collectively,
they provided $2.9 million, or 33 per cent of available funds. Foundations
contributed U.S.$5.0m in 2002 (up from U.S.$3.5m in 2001), or 57 per
cent of ICG’s available funds. ‘Other’ sources, viz. private individuals, trusts
and corporations, provided an additional $900 000, or 10 per cent of the
total. The balance between unrestricted ‘core’ support and restricted
program-specific support has been maintained at 60:40. In 2003 ICG’s
income is expected to further grow to approximately $9.5 million, with the
increase – in a difficult economic environment – coming almost entirely
from governments rather than foundations or the private sector.

Judgements

Anecdotal evidence abounds – some of it reflected in the quotations
throughout this report – that ICG’s reporting is highly regarded by policy
makers, the media and other analysts. We continue to explore ways in
which feedback – both solicited and unsolicited, and from both donors 
and our main target audiences – can be more systematically evaluated.
More specifically, ICG has developed an internal assessment process,
in which field personnel, program directors and ICG leadership work together
to produce analytical memoranda and address the following criteria:

• the fit between ICG activities and conflict prevention goals

• relevance and utility of reports in the policy cycle for different actors

• impact of advocacy of specific ICG recommendations on policy

• impact of policy changes we achieve on conflict prevention/containment.

These memoranda form the basis for systematic annual management and
Board assessment, through candid roundtable discussion, of what is being
done right, what needs to be improved, and what should have greater or
lesser emphasis.

ICG’s website www.crisisweb.org – a critical advocacy tool
• 810,000 visits* during 2002 (up from 480,000 in 2001).

• 770,000 reports and briefing papers downloaded (up from 526,000 
in 2001).

• 68,000 visitors on average per month (up from 50,000 in 2001)

• 11 minutes average length of visit (up from 8 minutes in 2000,
and much higher than the average internet rate of 2-3 minutes).

• 1.5 visitors, on average, logged on to crisisweb every minute.

* Visit: an individual user session, made up of a varying number of ‘hits’, depending on how many text,
graphics or link elements the user requests. ICG’s experience has been of 15-20 times more hits than visits.

26 27Measuring Progress Measuring Progress

Number of countries or entities covered by ICG field reporting

Number of Reports and Briefing Papers issued, 1995-2002
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Media exposure

ICG’s reports and analysts are widely used as sources of information and
comment by major national and international media outlets: major media
mentions increased dramatically to 1832 in 2002 (from 734 in 2001,
and 353 in 2000). Local press, radio and TV are also extremely important
in advancing ICG’s policy ideas, with new ICG reports usually treated as 
a significant news story, and our field analysts often asked for interviews:
tracking appearances and mentions across all these outlets, however,
has proved impossible. ICG staff and board members also regularly write
opinion pieces (op-eds) in the editorial pages of major papers – 60 were
published in 2002 (up from 50 in 2001).
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Outcomes

ICG tabulates and tracks as best it can the fate of its policy
recommendations. The pattern has been for some 30-40 per cent of our
recommendations to be achieved, in whole or in part, within a year: some
examples are set out in the geographical sections of this report. But causality
is obviously a matter of judgement in each case, and we acknowledge that
ICG’s voice is often only one of many. Moreover, there may be many reasons
other than wrong-headedness why policy prescriptions are not implemented:
they may be overtaken by events, not yet timely, be accepted but meet a
resource constraint or, while not being accepted, play a major role in
stimulating rethinking of an important issue. To judge how well we do our 
job, ICG relies heavily on feedback from the policymakers at whom our
publications are targeted.

Available Funds 1995-2003 by source

Number of visitors per month to ICG’s website (‘000s)

Measuring Progress
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International Crisis Group

Financial Statements for the Year Ended
30 June 2002 and Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors of the International Crisis Group

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of the International Crisis Group as at June 30, 2002 and
2001 and the related consolidated statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the International Crisis Group’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with international standards on auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements’
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the International Crisis
Group as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 and the changes in its net assets and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally
accepted accounting standards.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE
Independent auditors

Benjamin Lam
Partner

September 11, 2002

As of 30 June 2002 (in US dollars)

ASSETS
2002 2001

Current assets 7,401,524 6,352,509

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 6,690,118 4,156,785

Accounts receivable and other assets 132,585 95,462

Contributions receivable (Note 5) 3,578,821 2,100,262

Non current assets 508,429 425,381

Fixed assets
at cost less depreciation (Note 7) 345,301 286,092

Cash guarantees 163,128 139,289

Total Assets 7,909,953 6,777,890

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2002 2001

Current liabilities 482,357 381,694

Accounts payable 103,426 80,986

Accrued liabilities 378,931 300,708

Net assets (Note 9) 7,427,596 6,396,196

Unrestricted 4,175,069 5,660,697

Temporarily restricted 3,252,527 735,499

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 7,909,953 6,777,890

Statement of Financial Position

The accompanying notes form an 
integral part of this statement.

Statement of Activities
For the year ended 30 June 2002 (in US dollars)

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted TOTAL

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT
Contributions 3,770,669 5,164,804 – 8,935,473
Investment income 83,240 – – 83,240
Miscellaneous income 2,439 – – 2,439
Net assets released from restrictions:
Satisfaction of program restrictions (Note 8) 2,647,776 (2,647,776) – –

Total revenues and other support 6,504,124 2,517,028 – 9,021,152

EXPENSES
Balkans program
Bosnia 643,308 – – 643,308
Kosovo 565,370 – – 565,370
Serbia 317,829 – – 317,829
Macedonia 295,611 – – 295,611
Montenegro 97,899 – – 97,899
Albania 92,852 – – 92,852

2,012,869 – – 2,012,869
Africa program
Central Africa 867,691 – – 867,691
Sierra Leonne 344,437 – – 344,437
Sudan 342,025 – – 342,025
Zimbabwe 171,430 – – 171,430
Algeria 148,786 – – 148,786
Somalia 52,284 – – 52,284

1,926,653 – – 1,926,653
Asia program
Central Asia 818,379 – – 818,379
Indonesia 520,163 – – 520,163
Pakistan/Afghanistan 406,158 – – 406,158
Burma 172,109 – – 172,109
North East Asia 44,698 – – 44,698

1,961,507 – – 1,961,507
Others
Middle East program 680,589 – – 680,589
Latin America program 465,986 – – 465,986
Thematic research 27,462 – – 27,462

Total program expenses 7,075,066 – – 7,075,066

Fundraising costs 262,159 – – 262,159
Administration 689,697 – – 689,697
Other (Note 8) (37,657) – – (37,657)

Total expenses 7,989,265 – – 7,989,265

Changes in net assets (1,485,141) 2,517,028 – 1,031,887
Net assets at beginning of the year 5,660,697 735,499 – 6,396,196
Foreign exchange translation adjustment (487) – – (487)

Net assets at end of the year 4,175,069 3,252,527 – 7,427,596

For the year ended 30 June 2001 (in US dollars)
Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted TOTAL

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT
Contributions 4,772,794 1,581,375 – 6,354,169
Investment income 172,657 – – 172,657
Miscellaneous income 3,218 – – 3,218
Net assets released from restrictions:
Satisfaction of program restrictions (Note 9) 1,193,990 (1,193,990) – –

Total revenues and other support 6,142,659 387,385 – 6,530,044

EXPENSES
Balkans program
Kosovo 610,522 – – 610,522
Bosnia 425,522 – – 425,522
Serbia 257,125 – – 257,125
Montenegro 159,639 – – 159,639
Macedonia 93,502 – – 93,502
Albania 74,072 – – 74,072

1,620,382 – – 1,620,382

Africa program
Central Africa 989,941 – – 989,941
Algeria 165,931 – – 165,931
Zimbabwe 38,606 – – 38,606
Sierra Leone 20,720 – – 20,720

1,215,198 – – 1,215,198
Asia program
Indonesia 654,706 – – 654,706
Central Asia 493,715 – – 493,715
Burma 22,499 – – 22,499

1,170,920 – – 1,170,920

Thematic Research 54,462 – – 54,462
Nicholas Hinton Fellowship 42,037 – – 42,037
Latin America program 14,870 – – 14,870
Others 6,012 – – 6,012
Humanitarian Law Documentation Project 4,083 – – 4,083

Total program expenses 4,127,964 – – 4,127,964

Fundraising costs 584,044 – – 584,044
Administration 680,137 – – 680,137
Other (Note 8) 121,490 – – 121,490

1,385,671 – – 1,385,671

Total expenses 5,513,635 – – 5,513,635

Changes in net assets 629,024 387,385 – 1,016,409
Net assets at beginning of the year 5,031,806 348,114 – 5,379,920
Foreign exchange translation adjustment (133) – – (133)

Net assets at end of the year 5,660,697 735,499 – 6,396,196

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2002 (in US dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
2002 2001

Changes in net assets 1,031,887 1,016,409

Foreign exchange translation adjustment (487) (133)

Depreciation 144,119 94,180

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) / Decrease in accounts 
receivable and other assets (37,123) 201,603

(Increase) / Decrease in 
contributions receivable (1,478,559) 331,224

Increase / (Decrease) in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities 100,663 (200,680)

Net cash provided 
by operating activities (239,500) 1,442,603

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
2002 2001

Purchase of fixed assets (203,328) (257,214)

Increase in cash guarantees (23,839) (124,014)

Net cash used in investing activities (227,167) (381,228)

(Decrease) / Increase in cash 
and cash equivalents (466,667) 1,061,375

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4,156,785 3,095,410

Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of the year 3,690,118 4,156,785
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1. Organisation
The International Crisis Group (‘ICG’) is a not-for-profit organisation committed to reinforcing
the capacity of the international community to understand, anticipate and prevent crises
arising from human causes. ICG (US) was incorporated in the District of Columbia in 1995.
ICG (Belgium) was established under Belgian law at the end of 1997. ICG’s goal are to:
• engender support among officials and the general public for concerted international,

national and private response efforts at times of impending or erupted crisis.
• promote strategies aimed at assisting governments and international organisations to

translate early warning signs of impending disaster into early action in order to avert crisis.
• foster a heightened sense of awareness and obligation among governments to deal with

the problems posed by large-scale emergencies.
ICG’s headquarters are located in Brussels. ICG also maintains small advocacy and fundraising
offices in Washington DC, New York, Paris and a media liaison office in London; ICG operates
field projects in Africa, Asia, Indonesia, the Balkans, Latin America and the Middle East.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
a) The Financial Statements above present the combination of the two separate entities,

with the elimination of shared balances. The combination is intended to reflect fairly the
results of the organisation as a whole; it does not represent the consolidated results of 
a single legal entity, since no such entity exists.

b) Basis of preparation: ICG maintains its accounts on the accrual basis of accounting.
c) Net Assets: ICG classifies assets in three categories: unrestricted, temporarily restricted

and permanently restricted. All contributions are considered to be available for
unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor.

Temporarily restricted net assets are contributions with temporary, donor-imposed time
and/or program restrictions. These temporary restrictions require that resources be used for
specific purposes or in a later period. Temporarily restricted net assets become unrestricted
when time restrictions expire or the funds are used for their restricted purpose. At that time
they are reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.
Permanently restricted net assets are contributions to be held in perpetuity as directed by
the donor.
d) Taxes: ICG is exempt from Federal income taxes under Section 501 ( c ) (3) of the Internal

Revenue Code, and is properly classified as an Association Internationale Sans But
Lucratif (A.I.S.B.L.) under Belgian law.

e) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

f) Comparability
Some reclassifications were made to the 2001 accounts in order to insure proper
comparability with the 2002 financial statements.

Note 3. Functional Allocation of Expenses
Certain indirect program costs incurred at ICG’s Brussels, Washington, New York, London
and Paris offices have been allocated to programs on a functional basis in the statement 
of activities. Such costs include advocacy, communications, research and program
development and support.

Note 4. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash and temporary investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents were composed of
the following at 30 June:

2002 2001

Money market 906,312 1,256,082
Cash at bank 2,564,572 2,820,010
Other cash 219,234 80,693

3,690,118 4,156,785

Note 5. Contributions Receivable
ICG recognises contribution revenue in the year the money is received or the unconditional
pledge is made. ICG receives donations from foundations, governments and individuals.
Contributions receivable represent contributions made as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 for which
the funds have yet to be received. Funds are receivable within one year and are as follows:
Contributors Designated purpose 2002 2001

Altantic Philanthropies Global Terrorism 1,000,000 –
Finland Central Africa 500,073 –
Taiwan Core 400,000 700,000
Hewlett Foundation Global Terrorism 400,000 –
Henry Luce Foundation Indonesia 300,000 –
Carnegie Corporation Ethnic Conflict 166,667 –
United Kingdom Core 153,231 456,158
Germany Pakistan / Afghanistan 150,000 –
Smith Richardson 
Foundation Indonesia 125,000 –
Hewlett Foundation Core 100,000 100,000
France Central Africa 99,110 –
Open Society Institute Core 80,000 –
Ploughshares Fund Core (advocacy) 50,000 –
The Netherlands Core 50,000 –
Canada Pakistan/Afghanistan 4,740 –
Charles Stewart 
Mott Foundation Core – 250,000
Sweden Core – 184,216
Canada Balkans – 132,057
Ireland Kosovo – 80,855
Australia Indonesia – 59,524
The Netherlands Core – 50,000
Germany Balkans – 42,452
The Netherlands Kosovo – 20,000
Individuals Core – 15,000
Sasakawa Peace 
Foundation Indonesia – 10,000

Total 3,578,821 2,100,262

Note 6. Risk concentration
As of June 30, 2002, contributions received from two major donors accounted for 46% of
ICG’s revenues (2001:one donor represented 39% of the contributions).

Note 7. Fixed Assets
Depreciation is calculated utilizing the straight line method over three years based on the
estimated useful life of the assets. Depreciation expense for the years ended 30 June 2002
and 2001 was $ 144,242 and $ 94,180 respectively.
Fixed assets as of 30 June 2002 consist of:

Fixed assets Accumulated Net value
Depreciation

Office furniture and equipment 618,278 (315,543) 302,735
Vehicles 160,594 (118,028) 42,566
Office equipment (Humanitarian 
Law Documentation Project) 2,520 (2,520) –

781,392 (436,091) 345,301

Fixed assets as of 30 June 2001 consist of:

Fixed assets Accumulated Net value
Depreciation

Office furniture and equipment 452,288 (192,058) 260,230
Vehicles 123,256 (98,134) 25,122
Office equipment (Humanitarian 
Law Documentation Project) 2,520 (1,780) 740

578,064 (291,972) 286,092

Note 8. Exchange Fluctuations
As a result of operating in various countries, realized exchange effects have been recorded
based on monthly current rates. Net realised exchange effects are as follows for the years
ended 30 June:

2002 2001

Net realised loss on exchange 195 178,144
Net realised gain on exchange (97,329) (56,654)
Net unrealised loss on exchange 59,477 –

(37,657) 121,490

At 30 June 2002 and 2001, all items of the statement of financial position denominated 
in foreign currencies have been translated at their respective year-end rates and have
generated unrealised exchange effects in the amounts of $ 487 and $ 133 respectively.

Note 9. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes as of June 30:

2002 2001

Global Terrorism 1,000,000 –
Indonesia 525,085 179,359
Central Africa 517,596 –
Middle East 475,699 –
Southern Balkans 241,295 355,329
Pakistan/Afghanistan 208,271 –
Central Asia 166,845 –
Sudan 73,590 –
Algeria 31,646 99,956
Thematic Research 20,000
Colombia 12,500
Kosovo – 80,855

3,252,527 735,499

Temporarily restricted net assets have been released from restrictions due to the satisfaction
of the following purposes for the year ended June 30 :

2002 2001

Southern Balkans 717,342 474,491
Middle East 491,034 –
Indonesia 392,123 119,573
Africa 321,015 125,000
Pakistan/Afghanistan 239,751 –
Central Asia 162,013 –
Sudan 118,248 –
Algeria 108,982 133,358
Kosovo 64,768 20,000
Thematic Research 20,000 35,000
Colombia 12,500 –
Asia – 125,000
Central Africa – 123,180
Nicolas Hinton Research Fellowship – 38,388

2,647,776 1,193,990

Note 10. Off Balance Sheet Items
As at June 30, 2002, ICG had one leased car (2001:0) with a corresponding commitment
amounting to USD 11,617.
ICG has several leasing contracts for its offices and apartments. As at June 30, 2002, 
the minimum future rental payments related to this operating lease are :

Engagement < 1 year 1 year < engagement < 5 years
USD 336,000 USD 441,000

ICG’sFunding

Maintaining a strong and diverse financial base is crucial to preserving ICG’s independence and credibility. Approximately 40 per
cent of ICG’s funds are now received from governments, 50 per cent from foundations, and 10 per cent from individual and
corporate donors. Of all those funds, just on 60 per cent are available for spending on an unrestricted basis, giving us welcome
flexibility, while 40 per cent have been earmarked for particular programs or projects.

The downturn in the global economy and financial markets saw ICG in 2002 experiencing – in common with other non-profits – a decline in support 
from foundations and the private sector, but this was more than matched by increases in government support. Overall available funds were $8.8 million 
in 2002 (up from $7 million in 2001), and are targeted to further increase to U.S.$ 9.5m in 2003. No further expansion is being sought beyond that,
but it will take a major effort to maintain funding at present levels in 2004 and beyond.

ICG gratefully acknowledges and thanks the following supporters for their financial contributions in 2002:

Governments

Australia
Austria
Canada
Denmark
Finland

France
Germany
Ireland
Japan
Luxembourg

The Netherlands
Norway
Republic of China (Taiwan)
Sweden

Switzerland
Turkey
United Kingdom
United States

Foundations

Atlantic Philanthropies
Carnegie Corporation
Ford Foundation
William and Flora Hewlett Foundation
Henry Luce Foundation

John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation
John Merck Fund
Charles Stewart Mott Foundation
Open Society Institute

Ploughshares Fund
Sasakawa Peace Foundation
Ruben and Elisabeth Rausing Trust
United States Institute of Peace

Individuals and Corporations*

Marc Abramowitz, Morton Abramowitz, Martti Ahtisaari, Allen & Co, Richard & Patricia Allen, Hushang Ansary, Ersin Arioglu, Association of Turkish Chambers and Bourses (TOBB),
Michael J. Berland, Todd R. Berman, John Chapman Chester, Eleanor Bourke, Frederic A. Bourke, Andrew Brimmer, Robert & Mary Carswell, Maria Livanos Cattaui,
Wesley K. Clark, Carole Corcoran, Peter & Faith Corcoran, G. & M. Craig, Peter & Betsy Davidson (J.M.Kaplan Fund), Disbank, Strachan Donnelley, John & Jodie Eastman,
Richard & Carole Eisner, Gareth Evans, Issam Fares, Eleanor & Fred Ford, Walter & Josephine Ford, R. & T. Gottesman, Drue Heinz, Seymour & Susan Hepner, Carla Hills,
Geoffrey R. Hoguet & Anna Luisa Ponti, Swanee Hunt, Istanbul Chamber of Industry, Istanbul Chamber of Trade, Istanbul Chamber of Goods, Joe Josephson, George Kellner,
Caroline Kennedy, Koç Holdings, Elliott Kulick, L.W. Lane Jr., Dale P. Lenzner, George & Louise Loening (Select Equity Group), Henry Luce III, Richard Medley(Medley Global Advisors),
Profilo Holdings, Fidel V. Ramos, Laurance Rockefeller, J. & D. Rose (Lostand Foundation), Robert de Rothschild, Richard Ruble, E. & J. Sadowsky, George Sarlo (Sarlo Family
Foundation), Douglas Schoen, Kaye Scholer LLP, Ron Silver (Jonathan M. Tisch Foundation), Alan B. Slifka, Jay T. Snyder, Stephen Solarz, Robert & Melissa Soros,
William O. Taylor, Third Millennium Charitable Cultural Foundation, Barbara Toll, Ed Van Thijn, Vanguard Charitable Endowment Program, Miro & Stacy Weinberger,
John C. Whitehead (Whitehead Foundation), Shirley Williams, Dr. Omar Zawawi, Jim Zirin (Hess Foundation).

*ICG also receives gifts from individuals who wish to remain anonymous. For space reasons, only donations of $U.S.1,000 or more are listed here; all donations are listed on our website.

Shearman & Sterling White & Case Dechert LLP Sara Mansoori

ICG also receives substantial in-kind support, for which we are deeply grateful, from our pro bono counsel in the United States and Europe:
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ADVOCACY OFFICES
Brussels HQ
Gareth Evans

President

Alain Deletroz
Vice President (Operations & Administration)

Jon Greenwald
Vice-President (Research and Publications)

Robert Templer
Director of Asia Program

Nicholas Whyte
Director of Europe Program

Helen Brewer
Director of Finance

Fabrice Bierny
Operations Manager

Karine Traonvouez
Human Resources Manager

Alba Lamberti
EU Liaison & Communications Manager

Per Collin
Senior Accountant

Theo Adekunle
Research Analyst

Maria Sanchez-Marin Melero
Executive Assistant to President

Nathalie De Broyer
Publications Officer

Igor Larine
Operations Officer

Francesca Lawe-Davies
Research Officer

Joelle Scutari
Accountant

Tanya Borel de Bitche
Administrative Assistant

Rachael Taylor
Administrative Assistant

Washington
Mark Schneider

Senior Vice- President

Kathy Ward
Deputy Director

Robert Malley
Director of Middle East Program

John Prendergast
Co-Director of Africa Program

John Norris
Special Adviser to President

Jennifer Leonard
Advocacy Officer

Marjorie Ligelis
Accountant

Daniel Lee
Office Manager

New York
Nancy Soderberg

Vice-President (Multilateral Relations)

Carole Corcoran
General Counsel; Director of Special Projects

Amy Hunter
Director of Development (Individual and Corporate)

Tim Moriarty
Office Manager

Michael Bourke
Administrative Associate

Paris
Charles Radcliffe

Vice-President (Development & Government Relations)

Fabienne Hara
Co-Director of Africa Program

Loulouwa Al Rachid
Analyst

Romain Grandjean
Liaison Officer

Nicolas Ruble
Development Officer

London
Katy Cronin

Director of Media and Information

Reinoud Leenders
Middle East Analyst

FIELD OFFICES

AFRICA

Nairobi
François Grignon

Central Africa Project Director

Jean-Marie Gasana
Analyst

Pierre Bardoux Chesneau
Analyst

David Mozersky
Analyst

Anne Murambi
Office Manager

Esther Gichere
Administrative Assistant

Freetown
Comfort Ero

Project Director

Jennifer Hazen
Analyst

Alfred Lansana
Office Manager

ASIA

Jakarta
Sidney Jones

Indonesia Project Director

Melina Nathan
Analyst

Mahlil Harahap
Office Associate

Osh
David Lewis

Central Asia Project Director

Filip Noubel
Senior Analyst

Kathleen Samuel
Senior Analyst

Azizulla Ghazi
Analyst

Saniya Sagnaeva
Analyst

Aibek Sultanov
Office Manager

Islamabad
Samina Ahmed

South Asia Project Director

Najum Mushtaq
Analyst

Amber Mahmood
Office Manager

Kabul
Vikram Parekh

Senior Analyst

EUROPE
Sarajevo
Mark Wheeler

Bosnia Project Director

Senad Slatina
Analyst

Senad Lulo
Logistics Officer

Silva Vujovic
Office Manager

Pristina
Valerie Percival

Kosovo Project Director

Gazmend Maliqi
Office Manager

Ilir Deda
Research Assistant

Belgrade
James Lyon

Serbia Project Director

Skopje
Edward Joseph

Macedonia Project Director

Jane Sevdinski
Research Assistant

Gazmend Ilazi
Research Assistant

LATIN AMERICA
Bogotá
Fernando Mora

Colombia Project Director

Markus Schultze-Kraft
Senior Analyst

Claudia Julieta Duque
Analyst

Emma Garcia
Office Manager

MIDDLE EAST AND 
NORTH AFRICA
Amman
Joost Hiltermann

Middle East Project Director

Mouin Rabbani
Senior Analyst

Emily Qamar
Office Manager

Tel Aviv
Daniel Levy

Analyst

Cairo
Hugh Roberts

North Africa Project Director

ICG’s Staff

*Core staff (excluding consultants) at 10 March 2003.

ICG thanks the following members of staff and consultants 
(and others who cannot be named) who worked with us in 2002:
Hussein Agha, Saleh Agha, Abdel-Ghani Al Shami, Rina Amiri, Bushra Asif, Greg Austin, Amelie
Blom-Khan, Adrain Bonilla, Matthew Bryden, Susanna Campbell, Thierry Cruvellier, Dhaika Dridi,
Henner Fuertig, Iris Glossemeyer, Patricia Gossman, Vernon Hewitt, Fred Hoff, Stephen Jackson,
Linda Jakobson, Murhaf Jouejati, Willem Van Kamenade, Ahmed Khalidi, Miriam Kornblith,
Tom Kramer, Andre Le Sage, Raul Leis, Talat Massod, Hanspeter Mattes, John MacDougall,
Ken Menkhaus, Terence Nahimana, Steve Negus, Jean-Claude Nkubito, Peter Palmer,
John Peterson, Mouin Rabbani, Witney Schneidman, Prakash Shah, Aqil Shah, Andrew Selth,
Marco Sepik, Gayle Smith, David Steinberg, Martin Tanaka, Alex Their, Mark Thompson,
Elsina Wainwright, Sophia Wanche and Michael Young.

Thanks also to our 50 interns from around the world:
Julia Abel, Marine Allix, Chris Angell, Claudia Belczak, Aleksandra Blagojevic, Neil H. Blumenthal,
Yoni Boch, Patrick Bolte, Jessica Bowers, Brenda Bradberry, Frances Z. Brown, Anika Dubrall,
Soninka Duprey, Shehryar Fazli, Zlata Filipovic, Chris Flores, Mirna Galic, Ronit Golan,
Jen Hazen, Marilyn Kelly, Lina Kolesnikova, Medina Korda, Daniel Korski, Anne Kroening,
Catriona Laing, Sasha Lezhnev, Marisa Luzzato, Timothy Mazocca, Imraan Mir, Cobb Mixter,
Yamina Mokrani, Anita Moncrief, Flore Murard, Courtney Neilson, Yenkong Hodu Ngangjoh,
Emily Paddon, Sabeel Rahman, Phil Roessler, Simon Roughneen, Smriti Sateesh, Eric Schwab,
Bertrand Slaski, Rosa Solanes, Katherine Toews, Stephen Townley, Dan Vexler, Simon Webb,
Jeni Whalan, Annie Wright and Sogand Zamani.

And special further thanks to the following for their advice 
and support:
Ambassador Ken Berry (Honorary International Law Adviser), Aryeh Neier, Mabel Wisse Smit and
Anthony Richter (Open Society Institute), David Malone (International Peace Academy), Les Gelb,
Anne Luzzato (Council on Foreign Relations), Allan McEachen, Dominique Moïsi, Olga Polizzi,
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Allen & Co. Medley Global Advisors Westfield Limited

* Membership at 15 March 2003
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growing visibility are truly commendable’.
James D. Wolfensohn, President, The World Bank, 2 March 2002
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